President

Village of Beecher Marcy Meyer Trustees

625 Dixie Highway Clerk Todd. Kr-aus

PO Box 1154 = Joe Tieri

Beecher, Illinois 60401 Janett McCawley  Roger Stacey
Phone: 708-946-2261 Administrator Erik Gardner

Fax: 708-946-3764 Charity Mitchell Da_vid Weissbohn

www.villageofbeecher.org Treasurer Brian Diachenko

Donna Lippelt

MEETING OF THE BEECHER PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
(THE PZC)
Thursday, January 23, 2025 at 7:00 p.m.
Beecher Village Hall
625 Dixie Highway
Beecher, lllinois

l. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Il. ROLL CALL

1. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
V. RECOGNITION OF THE PUBLIC

V. CONSIDER REQUEST FOR RESUBDIVISION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT
53 W CHURCH ROAD. The petitioner will be in attendance to discuss the request.

VI.  PUBLICHEARING: CONSIDER PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE TO REPLACE
ORDINANCE NO. 1046 AND AMEND THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP. A motion is
needed to open and close the public hearing. Due notice has been published.

VIl.  CONSIDER MOTION OF RECOMMENDATION TO THE VILLAGE BOARD ON
THE PROPOSED ZONING ORDINANCE AND AMENDED ZONING DISTRICT
MAP. Pending the results of the Public Hearing.

VIIl. CONSIDER A MOTION OF RECOMMENDATION TO THE VILLAGE BOARD TO
AMEND THE FEE SCHEDULE FOR STAFF AND CONSULTANT REVIEW OF
APPLICATIONS RELATED TO LAND USE.

IX.  THE NEXT PZC MEETING IS SCHEDULED FOR FEBRUARY 27, 2025 AT 7PM.

X. OLD BUSINESS

XI.  NEW BUSINESS

XIl. ADJOURNMENT

Village of Beecher Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting Agenda January 23, 2025
1



MINUTES OF THE BEECHER PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
(THE PZC)
Thursday, December 12, 2024 at 7:00 p.m.
Beecher Village Hall
625 Dixie Highway

At 7:00 p.m., Chairman George Schuitema called the meeting to order.
All present joined in the pledge to the flag.

ROLL CALL. Members present: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.
Member absent: Commissioner Hearn.

Staff present: Secretary Patty Meyer, Administrator Charity Mitchell and Pete Iosue of Teska Associates.

Guests: Village President Marcy Meyer, Trustee Erik Gardner, David and Joyce Counts, Peggy and Joe
Boccia, and Mike McDonnell from Castletown Homes.

CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE OCTOBER 24, 2024 MEETING.
Commissioner Heim made a motion to approve the minutes of the October 24, 2024 PZC meeting as
written. Commissioner Gardner seconded.

AYES: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.

NAYS: None.

Motion carried.

RECOGNITION OF THE PUBLIC. None.

DISCUSSION OF RE-SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 49-51 ON SOMERSET DRIVE IN THE PRAIRIE
PARK SUBDIVISION. This item was tabled at a previous meeting to allow the Village Attorney to
review the information.

Administrator Mitchell provided an update. The Village could agree to allow single-family homes on lots
49-51, and they would still be part of the HOA and would pay dues to the HOA. The Village does not
enforce covenants. In regards to the previous agreement made between HOA and Castletown Homes, the
HOA can protest putting single-family homes on those three lots. Even if Village approves single-family
homes, there is still a legal issue between HOA and Castletown Homes.

Joyce Counts, representing HOA, stated that changing those three lots to single-family would change the
look of the entire street. It’s not an issue of whether or not they would pay into the HOA, the HOA does
not want single-family homes on those lots. She once again stated that the HOA approved the agreement
from 2019 that stated lots 49-51 would remain townhomes.

Mike McDonnell provided realtor information regarding interest in townhomes versus single-family
homes.

Much discussion followed.
It was the consensus of the PZC that the HOA and Castletown Homes need to have discussions and come

to an agreement. The matter can then be reconsidered by the PZC for recommendation to the Village
Board.

December 12, 2024 PZC Minutes - Page 1



UPDATE ON ZONING ORDINANCE REVISION. The most recent version was provided for review.
Changes were made to the Zoning Ordinance as discussed in the October 24" meeting.

Commissioner Barber made a motion to hold a public hearing on January 23, 2025 to consider the text
portion of the revised Zoning Ordinance. Commissioner Heim seconded.

AYES: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.

NAYS: None.

Motion carried.

The Commission discussed various parcels and zoning classifications and made corrections to the current
zoning map.

Commission Serviss made a motion accepting the zoning map as updated. Commissioner Heim seconded.
AYES: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.

NAYS: None.

Motion carried.

Commissioner Serviss made a motion to hold a public hearing on January 23, 2025 to approve the
updated zoning map. Commissioner Heim seconded.

AYES: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.

NAYS: None.

Motion carried.

It was noted that if zoning is changed on a parcel in the future, the Village would need to do a general
notice for public hearing and specific property owners should be notified of rezoning.

The next regularly scheduled meeting for the PZC is Thursday, January 23, 2025 at 7:00 p.m.
OLD BUSINESS. President Meyer provided an update on various businesses.

NEW BUSINESS. Commissioner Barber asked if the PZC was considering to hold future meetings at 6
p-m. It was the consensus of the PZC to leave the meeting time at 7 p.m.

ADJOURNMENT. Commissioner Serviss made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Eich
seconded.

AYES: Commissioners Barber, Eich, Gardner, Heim, Schuitema and Serviss.

NAYS: None.

Motion carried.

Meeting adjourned at 8:11 p.m.

?ﬁectfull ubmitted,
/ %%@/\/

Secretary

December 12, 2024 PZC Minutes - Page 2






Applicant and Purpose of Application

a. Applicant is (check one)
$$\ Property Owner a Attorney a Agent
a Other (specify)
b. This applicatien is a request for the following Village of Beecher action (check appropriate action(s)
requested).
a Annexation
Resubdivision Approval
a Annexation Agreement Approval
a Special Land Use Permit
a Rezoning of Property
a Zoning Variance(s)
a Subdivision Approval
a Other action (please specify)
c. The reason for the requested action(s) are as follows:
to Sel the X 15 awe phig
1)
d. The specific section(s) of the Village Zoning Code or other Village ordinances which address the
amendment, variance or other action which is being requested:
Sectin 1)
e.

variance:

-

The following {J/estions must be answered only if the application contains a request for a zoning

1) Are the conditions which prevent the development of the property the result of action by
an individual who has or had a property interest in the subject property?

a Yes a No



3

2) If the conditions were self-imposed (not hardship), please explain why the variance
should be granted?

W%

Site and Surrounding Property Information

a. Common address or property location of subject property:
b. Legal Description (Attach an additional sheet if necessary):
ON  SurvR,
WA 7 N0 T 0000
c. Permanent Real Estate Tax Identification Number: 3_} Ag“ ‘[9
d. Parcel Size: square feet
i ¥ acres

30 dimension of lot frontage

; dimension of depth of lot
e. What are the current land uses and zoning on the land and adjoining parcels of land surrounding

the site?
Current Zoning Current Use of Land

On Site
Property Abutting - North of Site P\\A P\‘QS
Property Abutting - South of Site RI1A
Property Abutting - East of Site E

Property Abutting - West of Site

Describe any existing structures and the physical attributes of the site:

o Yisa ong deduihe), SurtQ




g. Please provide names and addresses of all owners of parcels of land abutting the subject property,
including property located across any road or alley:

Name of property owner: Address of property owner:

i 1Sam Baomsadne™ 33w el N -To Qast
Vo= no owe, por N Eheran |
St~ wo Me soutin fleld

cthe Pongzzo 7 W choven - for v}

@ Description of the Proposed Development

a. Please describe the proposed use of the land and/or buildings assuming approval of the request:

e\ lols  for \sw&r Yo bold SN
53 Chven reh i on Sacreg, The hese sits on e far sd ot

For o cweowsh b e huse on dages, TN remalniy D ac &
SP‘;\‘ MY tvo 5 ae i and sel Fhemn,

b. What is the proposed time frame for the build-out of the proposed development? w

c. Please describe the number of buildings, quare footage of each building and the total square footage
of the development along with the required number of parking spaces for each intended use:

Building Use ~ Number of Buildings Building Area (sq.ft.) Total Building (sq,ft.)  Req'd Parking

Single Family fs \
Multi-Family nN_/
Retail \_/
Office \/
Industrial
Other

please specify type of use

Totals




5

d. Please describe the number of water and sewer connections this development will require:
Building Use Water Connections & Size Sewer Connections
he_ \ )
Single Family T 2 0\! o W\ q R WS
Multi-Family :
Retail
Office
Industrial
Other
please specify type of use
Totals
Please provide information concerning the amount of traffic and proposed road configuration the
proposed development will have:
1) Average daily traffic count for the proposed development {\ ’
2) Peak traffic flow count for the proposed development \ l
3) How many lineal feet of roadway is proposed to be developed? L linear feet.
4) How many cu-de-sacs will be constructed as part of this project?
5) How many curb cuts to Village, Township County or State roads are proposed for this project? _
f. Will the building within this proposed development house any hazardous materials at occupancy?

No
\g\ Yes - Please continue --- by describing the type and quantity of materials:

g. Fire District Approval of Site and Building Plans

The Village requires that the Beecher Fire Protection District must approve all site and building plans for
commercial, industrial and multi-family buildings which have common hallways or are accessible to the public or
by employees. This application and associated documentation must be approved by the Fire Chief, Assistant

Chief of Deputy Chief of the Department. This approval can be arranged by calling (708) 946-6585 between 8:30

A.M. and 4:00 P.M. weekdays, or (708) 946-2372 evenings and weekends.
Approval Date: Conditions Attached

By: ) Yes
Title : O No




(5] Signature and Declatory Statement

a. Please describe the reason that this petition should be granted:

|
To  dhwd hemes wh pow be. POy iy Qrep QMI fajes.

b. Required Attendance At Public Hearing and/or Plan Commission Meeting(s): The Plan Commission
has established a policy requiring the applicant or a designated representative of the applicant shall be
present at any meeting or public hearing at which the Plan Commission will consider the application.
Failure of the applicant or designee of the applicant to appear before the Plan Commission may postpone
consideration of the application by the Plan Commission.

c. Declaratory Statement: I :YOS‘\ P’W/«\j(lf w » hereby certify that all information
contained in this application and accompanying documentation is true and
correct to the best of my knowledge and further, 1 acknowledge the
attendance responsibilities of the applicant as set JSorth in paragraph b above.

d. Applicant Signature:

Date: ’\? -)03\5—

e. Notary Public Certification Statement

I/ e M. — e/ Notary Public in and for the State of Illinois hereby state that on
the __— _ day of. . R —., e above captioned Applicant appeared before me and under oath, stated
that all matters contained in this Application for Land Developm  are true.

OFFICIAL SEAL
IRENE i BROTHERS Notary Public
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF ILLINOIS

. . MY COMMISSION EXPIRES: 8/29/2025
My commission expires. -

Note to applicant ----

The original application must be filed in the Office of the Village Clerk.



® Re;uired and Requested Attachments

Plat of Survey with legal description. ~—

b. Site plan of proposed use or project showing traffic patterns, parking locations and count,
drainage patterns including detention areas, landscaping plans, exterior lighting location and
lumination pattern, building facade portrait and building size and location dimensions.

c. Floodplain map (engineers drawing or FEMA map showing location of subject property).
d. Application Fee in the amount of $75.00.
e. Soil Conservation Analysis (if applicable).
f. Applications for permits (specify type):
1) IDOT
2) IEPA
3) Will County
4) Others
€. Endangered Species Certification (if applicable).
f. Please include any additional comments or pertinent information in the space provided.

Phere are Y sorver inclde d
b~ the 5 acwes a5 i shands

RN Q
_Yhe yace popty mih the - o e
;Wl %;\Y\z/ Oi e i\'vv |5 acre BAS ot Me 3 aue bevng sod

Uih — ¢ ofhe Taoe lot beng

The following signature is required for verification that this is a valid and complete application to be considered by
the President and Board of Trustees and the Beecher Plan Commission.

Date:

Village Administrator, Village Clerk, or Village Planner

Village Board meeting date for initial review:



PLAT oF SURVEVE
ATLANSTS
wo
o e w

!
8 “
“m »\m 304 90 O 08 622, o w0 o /
N =
o m\\
gl
’ 4
i
H
E
S
i s
if 2 !
> [0} N
Gy 2| [ —= :
ki g m
S5 ° -
Smm mw Egy s
se fg| W |
B0 Q .
<81 S N
g i °
wmm :
b {
o
H
I REL
S
b :
05629 mm m
[} mu
EH m

DATE OF COMPLETION ™4 THE PIELD:.
COMMONLY KNOWN AS:.

PIN




PLAT OF SURVEY

SUBDMSION OF SECTON 16, 1 TOWNSHP 33 NORTH. AND N RWGE 14, EAST OF THE THIRD PRNCIPAL

MERDUN, N WILL COUNTY, RUNOS.

P.O. BOX 438607

LAY Gr sUBVEYS
ATLANITS
LAXD DEVELGPMENT

Offe: 313.230067)

PROPERTY ADDREXS: 53 W. CHURCH ST.. BEECHER, LUNOS.

STREET

(295TH STREET)

CHURCH

WEST

o -

]

K. 1ot

-—

165.0Q"

T

B H ¥

n
WArp, & b

165.00"™"*

7. 8 8

05622

1, 2024

cru

3 CHURCH UC

+

DATE OF COMPLETION W TNE FIELD:,

®_GHURCH ST., BEECHER,




ATLANSS

PLAT 02 SURVEYE.
o

STREET

TRUSTEES

05622

scHoo
bt 1

THE THRD PRIICPAL

M

g 25 e (O SURVE
(295TH STREET)
1es.00 T

CHURCH

o1
SUBDMSION OF SECTION 16, IN TORNSHP 33 NORTH, AND N RANGE 14, EAST

MERIOWN, I8 WILL COUNTY, RLINOS.
PROPERTY ADORESS: 53 W, CHURCH ST (VACANT LOT).. BEECKER, LUMOSS.

e 01
Py i-n)
[
.9&

WEST

A
.0.BOX 438607

05 629

165.00

53 CHURCH UG

DATE OF COMPLETION ™ D PELD;__DECEMBER 31, 2024

PREPARED FOR:.




IOREIRN SURVEY, LS
7.0, BOX 438607

Offe: 31140477

i
i
5

AR L PTS BTN s, W0 PRGOS BOAD B WA
STE oA & T AT e

Sk D UomEATON DELD B ESTIBUSED MoOR T0 T
RN e W ik ST

REASE R 50 060, TRE FOUT ME/ON LocAL GROBMCES 1R
A oo T e S asiate Y P

A ot e B> o) AMRATCLY RPN MY
BTN 10 I EAVEYCR PR DR ARG COMTR.
g ol e gy
PSR, 0 A SRS o & TOSDURRG o 11 e

PLAT OF SURVEY

THE EAST QUARTER OF THE WEST 330.00 FEEY OF THE EAST 726.00 FEFT OF LOT 1 OF

™
TRUSTEES SUBDISION OF SECTION 16, &% TOWNSIGP 33 NORTH, ANO I RAMGE 14, EAST OF THE THRD

PRINCIPAL WEROWA, N WL COUNTY,
PROPERTY ADORESS: S5 W. CHURGH ST (EAST QUARTER LOT)., BEECHER, ILLIOSS.

CHURCH (295TH STREET)

o =
I
i
A ==
& a}
?\

wepnt a1
0 S
(5]

629.50'
629.50

82.50" on ‘j

STREET

AT 07 URvEVE
ATLANSTS
LAND DEVELONGNT




T

PROPERTY ADORESS: 53 W. CHURCH ST (WEST QUARTEN LOT).. GEECHER, LLNOS.

TRGTEES SUBGNION, OF SEETON 16, 1 Tome
mmmmm"m

STREET

(295TH STREET)

CHURCH

05622

Y

£ N

F : in

K3 i,

g di s

il i
Jh: B
Wiy
§ilnne 8l

82.50"

WEST

‘»\

wneanr ot

(w0 SuLoNGT;
"
\90

82.50

05629

e

Rl

bl
wmmmmm_“ LERL
LI
mmwmz.m il
B 1 &9
it ] |3

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:S3 ¥. CHURCH ST

2




VILLAGE OF BEECHER
ZONING ORDINANCE

PUBLIC HEARING DRAFT
JANUARY 10, 2025



INSERT APPROVAL ORDINANCE HERE



TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION L TITLE .ottt e et e e eeaaaes 4
SECTION 2 INTENT ..ttt e e e e e e e e ne e e e e e e e eeennes 5
SECTION 3 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT ....ccovvvniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiins 7
SECTION 4 GENERAL PROVISIONS ...ttt 56
SECTION 5 NON-CONFORMING BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES, AND USES................. 79
SECTION 7 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS ..ottt 89
SECTION 8 BUSINESS DISTRICTS ...ceuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiciccnni i 97
SECTION 9 INDUSTRIAL DISTRICTS .....cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiicrii i 100
SECTION 10 PARKING AND LOADING......cctttiiimiiiiiiiiieeeiiiiie et 103
SECTION LTI SIGNS....cei e 117
SECTION 12 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS ..ottt 140
SECTION 13 MISCELLANEOUS USES ......coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 144
SECTION 14 RULES AND DEFINITIONS ....coiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 156



SECTION 1 TITLE

This Ordinance, including the Zoning District Map, made a part hereof, shall be known, cited, and
referred to as the BEECHER ZONING ORDINANCE, as amended, January 2025.



SECTION 2 INTENT

This Ordinance is based on the Beecher 2040 Plan for the Future (Comprehensive Plan) for the
Village of Beecher adopted by The Village Board on October 15, 2019, and subsequently recorded
in the County of Will. Said Comprehensive Plan includes sections on demographics, existing and
future land uses, population growth and goals, planning policies, housing, parks and recreation,
transportation, downtown planning, employment, sustainability, and implementation.

This Ordinance is adopted with the following intent:

1.

10.

11

12.

To promote and protect the public health, safety, morals, convenience, and general
welfare of the people;

To provide adequate natural light, pure air, and safety from fire and other dangers;

To divide the Village of Beecher into zones or districts and classify, restrict, and regulate
therein trades and industries, and the location, construction, reconstruction, alteration,
and use of buildings, structures, and land, whether for residence, business,
manufacturing, or other specified uses;

To fix reasonable standards to which buildings and structures shall conform and to
provide that alterations or remodeling of existing buildings or structures be conducted in
accordance with current standards as set forth herein;

To protect the character and maintain the stability of residential, business, and industrial
areas within the Village of Beecher and to promote the orderly development of such
areas;

To limit congestion in the public streets;

To prevent the unproductive or overly intensive development of land through managing
the height and bulk of buildings hereafter erected as related to land area;

To establish and regulate building or setback lines on or along streets, alleys, trafficways,
drives, parkways, storm or flood water runoff channels or basins, or property lines to
secure development that enhances its surroundings and the Village;

To regulate and manage the intensity of the use of lot areas and regulate and determine
the area of open spaces within and surrounding such buildings;

To prohibit buildings, structures, or uses which are incompatible with the character of
other appropriate existing or intended uses within specified zoning districts;

. To require that additions, alterations, or remodeling of existing structures meet the

requirements of this Chapter and the Village Code;

To provide for the gradual elimination of those existing uses, buildings, and structures

which are incompatible with the character of the districts in which they are made or

located, including without being limited thereto;

a. To eliminate such uses of unimproved lands or lot areas when the existing rights of
the persons in possession thereof are terminated or when the uses to which they are
devoted are discontinued;

b. To eliminate uses to which such buildings and structures are devoted if they are
adaptable for permitted uses; and

c. To eliminate such buildings and structures when they are destroyed or damaged in



13.
14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

major part or when they have reached the age fixed by the corporate authorities of
the municipality as the normal, useful life of such buildings or structures.
To protect the air, water, and land resources of the Village from the hazards of pollution;
To protect land and buildings and the lawful uses of land and buildings from natural
hazards including flooding and erosion;
To encourage the construction and maintenance of a full range of housing opportunities
so as to enable all persons working within the village to reside therein;
To conserve and enhance the taxable value of land and buildings throughout the Village
of Beecher;
To define and limit the powers and duties of the administrative officers and bodies as
provided herein;
To prescribe the penalties for the violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or any
amendments thereto; and
To encourage development so there is compliance with the Comprehensive Plan.



SECTION 3 ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

3-1 HOW TO USE THIS SECTION.

This Section provides the procedural requirements for obtaining relief under this code, including
special use permits, planned unit developments, variations, appeals, amendments, and site plan
approval. In addition, this Section explains the authority of the Planning and Zoning Commission,
as well as the administrative officers with specific authority to interpret, apply, and enforce the
provisions of this code. The provisions that follow are complex, but are designed to ensure a fair,
predictable process for property owners and people wanting to improve and develop property.
Specific questions about this Section should be directed to the Zoning Administrator.

3-2  ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICIALS AND BODIES.
1. General Provisions. The administration of this ordinance is hereby vested in the following:

a. Zoning Administrator;

b. Planning and Zoning Commission; and

c. Village Board.

2. Zoning Administrator.

a. General Powers. The Village Administrator, or his/her designee shall act as the Zoning
Administrator. The Zoning Administrator will be charged with the administration and
enforcement of this code, and such other responsibilities as may be delegated by the
Village Board from time to time. In addition to the jurisdiction, authority, and duties
conferred on the Zoning Administrator by state statutes and village codes and
ordinances, the Zoning Administrator will have all powers necessary to such
administration and enforcement, and will, in particular, have the jurisdiction,
authority, and duties set forth in this Subsection 3-2.2.

b. Rules, Regulations; Application Forms. The Zoning Administrator will prepare, adopt,
and issue procedural rules, regulations, and forms that, in the Zoning Administrator’s
opinion, are necessary for the effective administration and enforcement of this code.

c. Staff Assistance to the Planning and Zoning Commission. The Zoning Administrator
will make staff and consulting assistance available to the Planning and Zoning
Commission.

i. Attend the meetings of the Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC);
ii. Inform the Planning and Zoning Commission of all relevant facts and
information with respect to any matter brought before either bodyj;
iii. Assist the Planning and Zoning Commission with research and making
recommendations on matters brought before either body; and
iv.  Perform such other duties as may be assigned to the Zoning Administrator by
this code, the Village Board, or by the direction of the Village President.

d. Records. The Zoning Administrator will, subject to Village record retention policies,
maintain:

i.  Permanent and current records of this code, including all maps; amendments;
special use permits; planned development and site plan approvals and denials;
interpretations; and decisions rendered by the Planning and Zoning



Commission, village attorney, and the Zoning Administrator, together with
relevant background files and materials and final disposition of the Village
Board; and

ii.  Acurrentfile of all certificates of zoning compliance, certificates of occupancy,
and notices of violations, terminations, discontinuance, or removal, issued by
or in the possession of the Zoning Administrator’s office, for such times
necessary to ensure continuous compliance with the provisions of this code.

iii.  All official documents shall be recorded with the Will County Recorder of
Deeds within sixty (60) days of approval by the Planning and Zoning
Commission and/or the Village Board.

e. Zoning Text; Zoning Map. The Zoning Administrator will prepare and have available
for public inspection on or before March 31st of each year:

i. The compiled text of this code in book or pamphlet form, including all
amendments through the preceding December 31st; and

ii. The official zoning map, showing the zoning districts, divisions and
classifications in effect on the preceding December 31st.

iii.  The Zoning Administrator will, at all other times, maintain, and have available
for reproduction, at least one (1) up-to-date copy of both this code text and
the zoning map, showing all amendments through the most recent meeting of
a Village Board for which official minutes have been approved.

f. Applications. Receipt, Processing, Referral to Interested Parties and Agencies. The
Zoning Administrator will receive all applications required to be filed pursuant to this
code and determine when any application is complete. Upon receipt of an application,
the Zoning Administrator will process it, including referral to and retrieval from each
department, board, or commission of the village, or other government, with any
interest or duty with respect to such application. Unless otherwise provided, the
Zoning Administrator may waive any application requirements that require the
submission of supporting information where the applicant demonstrates to the
satisfaction of the Zoning Administrator that the information required is not relevant
to or necessary for the determination of the application submitted.

g. Investigation of Applications. Whenever the Planning and Zoning Commission, or the
Village Board will, by general rule or specific direction, so request, the Zoning
Administrator will conduct or cause to be conducted surveys, investigations, and field
studies, and will prepare or cause to be prepared reports, maps, photographs, charts,
and exhibits, as will be necessary and appropriate to the processing of any application
filed pursuant to this code.

h. Zoning Certificates. Pursuant to Subsection 3-2.2 of this Section, the Zoning
Administrator will review all applications for certificates of zoning compliance and
certificates of occupancy and approve or disapprove such applications and issue or
refuse to issue such certificates based on compliance or noncompliance with the
provisions of this code.

i. Interpretations. Pursuant to the provisions of Subsection 3-2.2 of this Section, the
Zoning Administrator will issue written interpretations of the meaning and
applicability of this code. Any interpretation of this code that may be rendered by the



Zoning Administrator will be kept on file with the Zoning Administrator and will be a
public record of the village.

Planned Development and Site Plan Modifications. Pursuant to the provisions of this
Section, the Zoning Administrator will have authority to permit adjustments to final
plans for planned developments and to site plans.

Extensions of Time.

i.  The Zoning Administrator may, upon written request, for good cause shown
and without any notice or hearing, grant extensions of any time limit imposed
on an applicant or permittee by this code unless state law, or a village
ordinance or resolution expressly provides otherwise. The total period of time
granted by any extension or extensions will not exceed the length of the
original period or ninety (90) days, whichever is less.

ii. The Village Board may, upon written request, for good cause shown, and
without any notice or hearing, grant extensions of any time limit imposed on
an applicant or permittee by this code by ordinance duly adopted. The total
period of time granted by such extension or extensions will be specifically
stated in the ordinance.

Inspection and Enforcement. The Zoning Administrator will undertake regular and
continuing programs of inspection of work approved and underway and of existing
structures and uses as may be feasible and proper; will undertake additional
inspections as may be necessary to the performance of his or her duties under this
code; will receive from any person complaints alleging, with particularity, a violation
of this code; and when appropriate will cause investigations and inspections as may
be warranted under the circumstances. Upon finding the existence of any violation of
this code, the Zoning Administrator will take or direct all actions necessary or
appropriate to promptly end and correct the violation, and ensure future compliance
with this code.

. Reports. The Zoning Administrator will, from time to time, prepare and submit a

report to the Village Board and the Planning and Zoning Commission concerning the
administration of the land use and development regulations of the village, with
information and statistical data useful in advancing and furthering the goals and
purposes of these regulations and recommendations for the improvement of these
regulations and their administration.

3. Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC).

a.

Establishment and Membership. A Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) is hereby
established and its membership and their respective terms are determined as
provided in Chapter 15 of the Village Code of Ordinance, as amended.

Membership. The Planning and Zoning Commission will consist of seven (7) members
appointed by the Village President with the advice and consent of the Village Board.
Each member must be a resident of the Village. The Village President, with the advice
and consent of the Village Board, will select one (1) member to serve as the
chairperson. The Village President, subject to approval by the Village Board, will have
the power to remove, after a public hearing, any member for cause. Vacancies will be
filled as soon as possible for the unexpired term of any member who vacates their



position. In the event that the office of chairperson is vacated, the Village President
will, as soon as practicable, appoint, (a) at the Village President’s sole discretion, one
(1) of the current commissioners, or, (b) with the advice and consent of the Village
Board, appoint a newly appointed member to fill the chairperson vacancy.

Term. Planning and Zoning Commission members will be appointed to the following
terms one for one (1) year, two for two (2) years, two for three (3) years, and two (2)
for four (4) years, the successor to each member so appointed to serve for a term of
three (3) years.

Planning and Zoning Commission Authority and Procedures. The Planning and Zoning
Commission is hereby vested with the following powers and duties:

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

To hear, consider, and recommend to the Village Board matters dealing with
amendments to this code;

To hear, consider, and recommend to the Village Board matters dealing with
the granting of special uses;

To consider and recommend to the Village Board matters dealing with the
granting of planned developments;

To hear and decide, as a final decision of the village, appeals from any order,
requirement, decision, or determination to be made by the zoning
administrator under this ordinance;

To hear and decide, as a final decision of the village, variations from the terms
provided in this ordinance in the manner and subject to the standards set forth
in this Section, including any variation requested in connection with special
uses, rezoning, subdivisions, annexation requests, or other zoning approval
request;

To prepare and recommend to the Village Board a new comprehensive plan
for the present and future development or redevelopment of the village and
contiguous unincorporated territory within one and one-half (1%) miles of the
corporate limits of the village and not located in any other municipality;

To designate, subject to final consideration, evaluation, and approval of the
Village Board, land suitable for annexation to the village and the
recommended zoning classification for such land upon annexation;

To recommend to the Village Board, from time to time, amendments to the
comprehensive plan or any part thereof;

To prepare and recommend to the Village Board, from time to time, plans or
recommendations for specific improvements in furtherance of the
comprehensive plan’s goals and objectives;

To give aid to the officials of the village charged with the direction of projects
for improvements set forth in the comprehensive plan, or parts thereof;

To consider and recommend to the Village Board all matters which it is
required to act upon under the terms of this code or under the law;

To recommend, subject to final consideration, evaluation and approval by the
Village Board, reasonable standards of design for subdivisions and for
resubdivisions of unimproved land and of areas subject to redevelopment with
respect to public improvements;

10



xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVi.

To study and make recommendations regarding matters dealing with the
planning of the community;

To direct and review, from time to time, studies of the provisions of this code,
and to make recommendations to the Village Board regarding any changes to
the ordinance;

To cooperate with the municipal or regional planning commissions and other
agencies or groups to further local planning initiatives and to assure
harmonious and integrated planning for the area;

To hear and decide all matters referred to it or upon which it is required to
pass under this ordinance.

e. Meetings and Procedures.

iv.

All meetings and hearings of the Planning and Zoning Commission will be held
on dates as determined by annual resolution of the Village Board and pursuant
to the requirements of the Illinois Open Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/1 et seq., as
the same may be amended from time to time. Additional meetings of the
Planning and Zoning Commission may be held on the call of the chair, or upon
a majority of the commissioners then holding office, and upon proper notice.
Minutes and Records. The Planning and Zoning Commission will keep minutes
of its proceedings summarizing said meeting and showing the vote of each
commissioner upon questions considered. Findings of fact will be included in
the minutes of each case and the reasons for recommending or denying any
matter will be specified.

Necessary Vote. The concurring vote of at least a majority of the currently
present commissioners will be necessary to take any action or adopt any
motion to recommend approval of any matter or application. Any lesser vote
on any such motion, even if a majority of those voting, will be considered a
final decision to recommend denial of such matter or application.

Rules of Procedure, The Planning and Zoning Commission may adopt rules of
procedures for the conduct of its meetings and hearings.

f. Records and Decisions.

The transcript of testimony, if any; the minutes of the staff secretary; all
applications, requests, exhibits, and papers filed in any proceeding before the
Planning and Zoning Commission; and the decision of the Planning and Zoning
Commission will constitute the record. The Planning and Zoning Commission
may rely on the personal knowledge of its members, on its inspections of the
property, and on any reports available to it; provided, however, that the
Planning and Zoning Commission will make the particular knowledge,
inspection, or report a matter of record at the public hearing and afford every
party reasonable time to respond to it.

Every decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission that is deemed to be a
final decision on a matter will be in writing and include findings of fact; refer
to all the evidence in the record and to the exhibits, plans, or specifications
upon which the decision is based; specify the reason or reasons for the
decision; contain a conclusion or statement separate from the findings of fact

11



setting forth the specific relief granted or denying relief; and expressly set
forth any limitations or conditions imposed on any relief granted or work or
use authorized.

Every decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission that is deemed to be a
recommendation to the Village Board may be made by written resolution or
by written report of the chairperson, prepared by the Zoning Administrator or
his/her designee, to the corporate authorities in accordance with the
provisions of this Subsection 3-2.3.

In any case where this code provides that the failure of the Planning and
Zoning Commission to act within a fixed period is deemed to be a denial of an
application, the failure will, notwithstanding the absence of required findings
and conclusions, be considered to be a decision of the Planning and Zoning
Commission rendered on the day following the expiration of such fixed period.
All records and decisions of the Planning and Zoning Commission will be
subject to the provisions of the lllinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS
140/1 et seq., as amended, and the village’s freedom of information policies
and procedures, as amended and on file with the Village Clerk’s office.

g. An appeal from any final decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission may be
taken in the manner provided in Article Il of the lllinois Code of Civil Procedure
pertaining to Administrative Review, 735 ILCS 5/3-101 et seq., as amended.

4. Village Board.

Village Board Authority and Procedure. Except in the case of any matter decided by
the Planning and Zoning Commission for appeals from decisions and interpretation by
the Zoning Administrator under Subsection 3-2.2 and variations under Subsection 3-
4.3 of this code, the Village Board has reserved for itself final decision-making
authority, by ordinance duly adopted, for any matter recommended to it by the
Planning and Zoning Commission under the following Subsections of this code:

a.

i
ii.
iii.
iv.
V.

adoption of or amendment to the comprehensive plan or official map;
amendments under Subsection 3-4.4 of this code;

special use permits under Subsection 3-4.5 of this code;

planned unit development under Subsection 3-4.6 of this code; and

any other matter under this code determined, from time to time, to be at the
exclusive legislative discretion of the Village Board.

Meeting and Procedures.

All final decisions of the Village Board under this code will be made in a regular
or special meeting of the Village Board conducted pursuant to the Illinois Open
Meetings Act, 5 ILCS 120/1 et seq., as amended.

Necessary Vote. The concurring vote of at least a majority of the currently
elected trustees will be necessary to adopt any ordinance making a final
decision approving any matter under Subsection 3-2.4.a of this code. Any
lesser vote on any such motion, even if a majority of those voting, will be
considered a final decision to recommend denial of such matter.

Ordinances. Any ordinance adopted by the Village Board approving any matter under
Subsection 3-2.4.a of this code will be recorded against the subject property in the

12



office of the county recorder where the subject property is located. The person or
entity that is granted the approval will bear the cost of the recording.

3-3  ZONING APPLICATIONS AND NOTICE REQUIREMENTS.
1. Applications.
a. General Requirements for All Applications.

Place of Filing. All applications required pursuant to this code will be filed with
the Zoning Administrator.
Form, Number, Scale. In addition to any specific application requirements for
zoning procedures set forth in Subsection 3-4.1.d of this code, all applications
filed pursuant to this code will be on forms supplied by the village and will be
filed electronically as a PDF, or similar format, and in such number of physical
duplicate copies as the Zoning Administrator designates. All plans filed as part
of any application will be at a scale sufficient to permit a clear and precise
understanding of the contents of the plan and the proposal being made and
will be folded to a convenient size for handling and filing in standard, legal-size
file drawers. Every application submitted pursuant to this code will contain at
least the following information:

(1) The owner's name and address.

(2) The applicant's name and address, if different than the owner, and the
applicant’s interest in the property.

(3) The names, addresses, and telephone numbers of all professional
consultants, if any, advising the applicant with respect to the application.

(4) The name and address and the nature and extent of the interest of any
officer or employee of the village in the owner, the applicant, or the
property.

(5) The address and legal description of the property.

(6) A description or graphic representation of the proposal for which approval
is being sought and of the existing zoning classification, use, and
development of the property. The scope and detail of such description
shall be appropriate to the subject matter of the application, with special
emphasis on those matters likely to be affected or impacted by the
approval being sought in the application.

(7) Proof of control or ownership, in the case of site-specific applications, and
the owner's signed consent to the filing of the application if the owner is
different than the applicant.

Filing Deadlines.

(1) Applications Requiring Hearings. Applications requiring a public hearing
will not be scheduled for such hearing unless and until, in the
determination of the Zoning Administrator, the application is complete,
filed in proper form and number, and containing all required information.
The Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a workshop no later
than sixty (60) days following the submission of a complete application.

13



(2) Applications Not Requiring Hearing. Applications that do not require a
public hearing will be filed, in proper form and number, and containing all
required information, as determined by the Zoning Administrator, at least
thirty-five (35) days prior to the time when action on the application is
requested. Applications will be processed on a first-filed, first-processed
basis.

(3) Supplemental Data. Whenever supplemental data in connection with a
previously filed application is required by the village or offered by the
applicant, it will be submitted at least seven (7) days prior to the date on
which it is to be considered at a hearing or a meeting or acted upon in
connection with such application. The filing of such data will, at the
discretion of the Zoning Administrator and of the body hearing the
application, delay a requested or scheduled hearing date.

Fees.

(1) Fee Established. Every application filed pursuant to this code will be
subject to a non-refundable application and filing fee established by the
village, by annual resolution duly adopted by the Village Board, plus all
recoverable costs, as established in Subsection 3-3.1.a of this code,
incurred by the Village in processing such application.

(2) Village Lien. The applicant and, if different, the owner of the property, will
be jointly and severally liable for the payment of the fee and recoverable
costs. By signing the application, the owner will be deemed to have agreed
to pay the fee and recoverable costs and to consent to the filing and
foreclosure of a lien on the subject property to ensure collection of any
such fee and recoverable costs, plus the costs of collection, which has not
been paid within thirty (30) days following the mailing of a written demand
for such payment to the owner at the address shown on the application.
Any lien filed pursuant to this Subsection 3-3.1.a may be foreclosed in the
manner provided by statute for mechanics liens. The Planning and Zoning
Commission shall withhold any recommendations until any past due fee is
paid in full.

Recoverable Costs. For purposes of calculating the fee due pursuant to

Subsection 3-3.1.a of this code, the actual costs incurred by the Village in

processing an application will be deemed to consist of the following items of

direct and indirect expense:

(1) Legal Publication (direct cost);

(2) Recording Secretarial Services (direct cost);

(3) Court Reporter (direct cost);

(4) Administrative Preparation and Review (hourly salary times a multiplier to
be established from time to time by the Zoning Administrator at a level
sufficient to recover one hundred (100) percent of the direct and indirect
cost of such service);

(5) Document Preparation and Review (hourly salary times a multiplier to be
established from time to time by the Zoning Administrator at a level

14



(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

sufficient to recover one hundred (100) percent of the direct and indirect
cost of such service);

Professional and Technical Consultant Services (direct cost);

Legal Review, Consultation, and Advice (direct cost);

Copy Reproduction (direct cost); and

Document Recordation (direct cost).

vi.  Recoverable Costs Payment and Escrow.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Initial Payment and Escrow. Every application filed pursuant to this Code
shall be accompanied by the required application fee plus an optional
additional amount for recoverable costs as provided in Subsection 3-3.1.a
as determined by the Zoning Administrator, to be deposited in an
application fee escrow. No interest shall be payable on any escrow.
Charges Against Escrow. From the date of filing of any application pursuant
to this code, the village will maintain an accurate record of the recoverable
costs of processing the application. The Zoning Administrator will, from
time to time, draw funds from the escrow account to pay recoverable
costs.

Additional Escrow Deposits. In the event the Zoning Administrator
determines the escrow account is, or is likely to become, insufficient to pay
recoverable costs, the Zoning Administrator will demand from the
applicant an additional deposit in an amount deemed sufficient to cover
foreseeable additional recoverable costs. Unless and until such additional
amount is deposited by the applicant, the Zoning Administrator may direct
that processing of the application be suspended or terminated.

Final Settlement. As soon as practicable following final action on an
application, the Zoning Administrator will cause a final accounting to be
made of the escrow deposits with an application and make a final charge
against the escrow deposits. A copy of the accounting will be provided to
the applicant. If the amount in the escrow account is insufficient to pay the
total actual costs, a written demand for payment of the balance due will
be mailed to the applicant and owner. Any unused balance remaining in
the escrow account after paying all recoverable costs will be returned to
the applicant.

vii.  Condition of All Applications, Approvals, and Permits; Time Periods.

(1)

(2)

No application filed pursuant to this code will be considered complete
unless and until all fees and deposits due pursuant to this Subsection 3-
3.1.a have been paid. Every approval granted and every permit issued
pursuant to this code will be deemed to be conditioned upon payment of
fees as required by Subsection 3-3.1.a.

Where this Code provides that the passage of time without decision or
action is deemed an approval or a recommendation for approval, time
periods will be tolled during any period of non-payment, but will otherwise
continue to run. The failure to fully pay any fee or deposit, when due, will
be grounds for refusing to process an application and for denying or

15



revoking any permit or approval sought or issued with respect to the land
or development to which the unpaid fee or deposit relates.

viii.  Specified Public Bodies Exempt. The provisions of this Subsection 3-3.1.a will
not apply to, and no fee will be required of, any public body or agency
exempted through an active intergovernmental agreement with the Village or
state statute.

Concurrent Applications. Where a proposed use or development requires more than
one (1) approval pursuant to this code, applications for all approvals may be filed
concurrently notwithstanding the fact that approval of one (1) application may be a
precondition to approval of other applications. The applications may, at the discretion
of the official, officials, body, or bodies charged with review of the applications be
processed together; provided, however, that no application will be approved unless
all applications that are a precondition to its approval have first been approved.
Withdrawal of Application. An applicant may withdraw an application in writing
addressed to the Zoning Administrator at any time prior to a final decision having been
rendered; provided that the applicant will have paid all applicable application fees and
village incurred recoverable costs pursuant to the Village Code. The applicant will have
the right to refile with a new application, but any refilling will be an entirely new filing
and subject to the procedures and fees of this code in the same manner as any other
new application.

d. Successive Applications.

i.  Second Applications Without New Grounds Barred. Whenever any application
filed pursuant to this code has been finally denied on its merits, a second
application, seeking essentially the same relief will not be brought unless, in
the opinion of the Zoning Administrator substantial new evidence is available
or a mistake of law or fact significantly affected the prior denial.

ii. New Grounds to be Stated. A second application must include a detailed
statement of the grounds justifying consideration of such application.

iii.  Exception. Whether or not new grounds are stated, a second application filed
more than two (2) years after the final denial of a prior application will be
heard on the merits as though no prior application had been filed. The
applicant will, however, be required to place in the record all evidence
available concerning changes of conditions or new facts that have developed
since the denial of the first application. In the absence of this evidence, it will
be presumed that no new facts exist to support the new petition that did not
exist at the time of the denial of the first application.

2. Public Meetings and Hearing Notices.

a.

Notice to be Given. Notice of public hearings and meetings set pursuant to this code
will be given by the Zoning Administrator or the applicant, as the case may be, in the
form and manner and to the persons specified in this Subsection 3-3.2.
Content of Notice. All notices will include:

i.  thedate;

ii.  name and address of the applicant(s);

16



3-4

3.

1.

iii.  name and address of the legal title owner(s), or beneficial owner(s), if different
from the applicant(s);

iv.  the village body or commission that will conduct the hearing or meeting;

v. time and place of the hearing or meeting;

vi.  adescription of the matter to be heard or considered;
vii.  the common street address or particular location, as well as the parcel index
number of the property; and
viii.  any additional information deemed necessary and appropriate by the Zoning

Administrator to ensure that the public is adequately apprised of the matter

to be considered.

c. Persons Entitled to Notice.

i.  All Hearings. Notice of every hearing set pursuant to Section 3-3 will be given
not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days in advance of any
scheduled public hearing in the following manner and in the form approved by
the Zoning Administrator:

(1) By the zoning administrator via regular mail, or other personal or express
delivery to all surrounding property owners as determined by the most
current taxpayer records in the county where the subject property is
located, within two hundred fifty (250) feet, exclusive of right of way, of
the subject property.

(2) Where a multi-family property is within the personal notice area and that
property has a homeowners’ association, notice only needs to be sent to
the homeowners’ association’s president, or similar official, and its
registered agent, if any. Supplemental or additional notices may be
required by the Zoning Administrator and may include, but not be limited
to, all taxing jurisdictions that serve the property, including the village.
Proof of mailing will be provided by the applicant in the form of an affidavit
of mailing, in format approved by the village attorney.

(3) By the Zoning Administrator in a newspaper of general circulation in the
Village.

General Public Meetings and Hearing Procedures.

a. Setting Hearing or Meeting; Time Limitation. When the provisions of this code require
a public hearing or meeting in connection with any application, the body charged with
conducting the hearing or meeting will, upon receipt of a properly completed
application, fix a reasonable time and place for the hearing or meeting; provided,
however, that a pre-hearing or pre-meeting workshop will be commenced no later
than sixty (60) days, and the actual hearing or meeting concluded no later than one
hundred twenty (120) days, following the receipt of the subject application unless the
applicant agrees to an extension or unless the hearing or meeting agenda of the body
is completely committed during that time.

ZONING PROCEDURES.
Interpretations.

17



Authority. The Zoning Administrator, subject to the provisions of this Subsection 3-
4.1, may render interpretation of the application of the provisions of this code.
Purpose. The Zoning Administrator’s interpretation authority recognizes that the
provisions of this code do not address every specific situation to which they may have
to be applied. However, many situations can be readily addressed by an interpretation
of specific provisions of this code based on the general and specific purposes for which
those provisions have been enacted and the specific facts of a given situation.
Parties Entitled to Interpretations. Applications for interpretations may be filed by any
person having an interest in the circumstances giving rise to the need for an
interpretation; provided, however, that interpretations shall not be sought by any
person based solely on hypothetical facts or where the interpretation would have no
effect other than as an advisory opinion.

Procedure.

i.  Application. Applications for interpretations of this code will be filed with the
Zoning Administrator on an application form, approved in form and substance
by the Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s office.

ii.  Action on Application. Within thirty-five (35) days following the receipt of a
properly completed application for interpretation, the Zoning Administrator
will inform the applicant in writing of his or her interpretation, stating the
specific precedent, reasons, and analysis upon which the determination is
based. The Zoning Administrator may also forward the applications directly to
the Planning and Zoning Commission for a determination. Failure of the Zoning
Administrator to act within thirty-five (35) days, or such further time to which
the applicant may agree, will be deemed to be a decision denying the
application.

iii. Appeal. Appeals from the Zoning Administrator’s interpretation may be taken
to the Planning and Zoning Commission as provided in Subsection 3-4.2 of this
Section.

iv.  Standards for Use Interpretations. The following standards will guide the
Zoning Administrator and, in the case of an appeal of the Zoning
Administrator’s interpretation, the Planning and Zoning Commission in issuing
use interpretations:

(1) Limitations on Favorable Use Interpretations.

(@) No use interpretation finding a particular use to be permitted or
specially permitted in a particular district will be valid for a period
longer than six (6) months from the date of the interpretation
unless a building permit is issued, and construction is actually
begun within that period and is diligently pursued to completion,
or a certificate of occupancy is obtained and a use commenced
within that period.

(b) A use interpretation finding a particular use to be permitted or
specially permitted in a particular district will only authorize the
particular use for which it was issued, and will not be deemed to

18



authorize any similar use for which a separate use interpretation
has not been issued.

(c)  The interpretation will automatically expire and cease to be of any
force or effect if the use for which it was issued is, for any reason,
discontinued for a period of six (6) consecutive months or more.

< s %

01 ~ 02 ~ 03

2. Appeals.

a. Authority. The Planning and Zoning Commission has exclusive jurisdiction over
appeals from decisions of the Zoning Administrator made under this code.

b. Purpose. This appeal process is provided to mitigate against arbitrary or erroneous
applications of this code by the Zoning Administrator and to avoid the need for
litigation in resolving such actions. However, the Planning and Zoning Commission will
give proper deference to the determination of the Zoning Administrator and those
charged with applying the standards and intent of this code.

c. Parties Entitled to Appeal. An appeal may be taken to the Planning and Zoning
Commission by any person, firm, or corporation aggrieved by a decision of the Zoning
Administrator made under this code.

d. Procedures.

i. Applications. Applications for appeals from decisions of the Zoning
Administrator made under this code will be filed with the Zoning Administrator
on an application form, approved in form and substance by the Zoning
Administrator and Village Attorney, available in the Zoning Administrator’s
office. In addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in
this Section the following additional information must be submitted with an
application for appeal:

(1) A description and, as appropriate, a graphic illustrating the situation for
which the appeal is being sought, as well as the existing zoning
classification, use, and development of the property.

19



(2) The Section of this code and the written determination from which an
appeal is sought.

(3) Anarrative of any specific situation giving rise to the original determination
and the appeal.

(4) A statement of the applicant’s position as to alleged errors in the
determination or failure to act being appealed, and why the relief sought
is justified and supported by this code.

ii. Timing to File Appeal. An appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of a
written determination by the Zoning Administrator. The Zoning Administrator
will promptly transmit to the Planning and Zoning Commission the application
for appeal together with all materials constituting the record upon which the
action appealed from is taken.

iii.  Automatic Stay. An appeal will stay all actions in furtherance of the matter
appealed from; unless the Zoning Administrator determines that current
conditions cause imminent danger to life or property, in which case the
proceedings will not be stayed, absent a restraining order, and actions needed
to mitigate such danger will be taken as soon as possible.

iv.  Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing. The Planning and Zoning
Commission will hold a public hearing regarding the appeal at a regular or
special meeting and give written notice of no less than fifteen (15) days to the
applicant. Any person may appear and testify at the public hearing, either in
person, in writing, or by duly authorized agent.

v.  Timing for Decision. Within thirty-five (35) days after the close of the public
hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will issue a written final decision
on the appeal.

< R %

01

=
N
o
w

3. Variations.
a. Authority.

20



The Planning and Zoning Commission has advisory jurisdiction over granting
variations from the provisions of this code, and are not otherwise defined as
administrative variations.

The Village Board has exclusive jurisdiction over granting variations, by
ordinance duly adopted, only after receiving a recommendation from the
Planning and Zoning Commission, and not otherwise defined as de minimis
variations.

The Zoning Administrator has exclusive jurisdiction over granting
administrative variations.

Purpose. In certain circumstances, strict application of the regulations of this code
may cause practical difficulties or a particular hardship relating to construction or
alteration of buildings or structures. Variations will not be granted as temporary
measures or to permit a use of land not otherwise authorized by a district’s use or
special use provisions.

Parties Entitled to Variations. Applications for variations may be filed by the owner of,
or any person, firm, or corporation having a contractual interest in, the property.
Variations to be Considered.

The only variations that may be considered from the regulations of this code
are those pertaining to the dimensional bulk regulations applicable to
properties by each zoning district that are not otherwise de minimis variations.
An administrative variation is a change in any dimensional bulk regulation that
does not exceed five (5) percent of the required dimension measurement, or
as otherwise specified in this Ordinance.

Procedures — Planning and Zoning Commission and Village Board Granted Variations.

Applications. Applications for variations from the requirements of this code

will be filed with the Zoning Administrator on an application form, approved

in form and substance by the Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning

Administrator’s office. In addition to the general requirements for all

applications set forth in this Section, the following additional information must

be submitted with an application for variations:

(1) Current plat of survey locating lot lines and all existing structures.

(2) A description and, as appropriate, a graphic illustrating the situation for
which the variation is being sought, as well as the existing zoning
classification, use, and development of the property.

(3) The Section(s) of this code from which the variation is sought.

(4) A narrative of any specific situation giving rise to the variation and how the
variation is consistent with the standards and the guidelines for variations
in this Section.

Prior to scheduling a Public Hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will

hold an informal workshop to introduce the application and obtain general

background information from the applicant.

Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing. The Planning and Zoning

Commission will hold a public hearing regarding a variation at a regular or

21



Vi.

special meeting. Any person may appear and testify at the public hearing,

either in person, in writing, or by duly authorized agent.

Timing for Decision or Recommendation by Planning and Zoning Commission.

(2) In all instances where the Planning and Zoning Commission has exclusive
jurisdiction over granting a variation, within sixty (60) days after the close
of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will issue a
written final decision on the variation, prepared by the Zoning
Administrator. The failure of the Planning and Zoning Commission to act
within sixty (60) days, or such further time to which the applicant may
agree, will be deemed to be a decision denying the variation.

(2) In all instances where the Village Board has exclusive jurisdiction over
granting a variation, within thirty-five (35) days of the close of the public
hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will make a
recommendation that is forwarded to the next available Village Board
meeting for approval, approval with modification, or denial of the
variation. Failure to do so within thirty-five (35) days, or a longer period if
agreed to by the applicant, will be deemed a recommendation for denial
of the variation.

Decision by the Village Board. Within sixty (60) days following receipt of a

recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission, or such longer time

as may be agreed to by the applicant, the Village Board will either approve the
variation, approve the variation with modifications, deny the variation by
ordinance duly adopted, or remand the matter back to the Planning and

Zoning Commission for further deliberation. Failure of the Village Board to act

within sixty (60) days following receipt of a recommendation from the

Planning and Zoning Commission, or such longer time as many be agreed to

by the applicant will be deed a denial of the variation.

Special Variations Procedures in Connection with Other Applications.

Whenever any other application is filed for relief under Subsections 3-4.3.d or

3-4.3.e pursuant to this code as a companion to an application for a variation

and such companion application requires final approval by the Village Board,
the authority to hear and decide the application for variation may, pursuant
to the request of the applicant made at the time of the filing of the applicant's
application, be reserved to the Village Board. For such purposes, the Village

Board shall have all of the authority granted to, and shall be subject to all of

the limitations imposed on, the Planning and Zoning Commission by this

Subsection 3-4.3.e.

22



f.

Procedures — Administrative Variations.

i.  Anadministrative variation is a change in any dimensional bulk regulation that
does not exceed five (5) percent of the required dimension measurement, or
as otherwise specified in this Ordinance.

ii.  Applications. Applications for administrative variations from the requirements
of this code will be filed with the Zoning Administrator on an application form,
approved in form and substance by the Zoning Administrator, available in the
Zoning Administrator’s office. In addition to the general requirements for all
applications set forth in Subsection 3-4.1.a and those for variations set forth
in Subsection 3-4.3.e, the following additional information must be submitted
with an application for administrative variations:

(1) Letters from all adjoining property owners that are directly affected by the
request, stating the following:

(@) Name of the applicant seeking the variation;

(b)  Address of the subject property;

(c)  Name and address of adjoining property owners; and

(d) Statement that the adjoining property owner understands the
request and does not object to the variation request.

(2) Adjoining Property Owner Objection. In the event that an adjoining
property owner objects to the administrative variation, the application for
an administrative variation under this Section will be subject to the
requirements for a public hearing for a variation with the Planning and
Zoning Commission.

(3) Approval. If the Zoning Administrator finds the administrative variation
request to meet the standards contained in Subsection 3-4.3.g, the Zoning
Administrator will notify the applicant and the Village Board.

g. Standards For Administrative Variations. Administrative variations will only be

granted when the request is consistent with the general purpose and intent of this
Ordinance and the applicant has demonstrated in writing the satisfaction of the
following standards:
i.  Hardship Or Unintentional Human Error. That a particular hardship or practical
difficulty exists that is unique to the subject property and does not apply
generally to properties in the zoning district, and that the strict enforcement

23



of the zoning requirement deprives the applicant of the reasonable use of the

property.

Prohibitions. That the granting of the variation will not:

(1) Impair an adequate supply of light and air to the adjacent property;

(2) Increase the hazard from fire or other dangers to said property;

(3) Diminish the value of land and buildings in the immediate neighborhood;

(4) Unduly increase traffic congestion in the public streets and highways;

(5) Increase the potential for flood damages to adjacent property;

(6) Otherwise impair the public health, safety, comfort, morals, or general
welfare of the inhabitants of the Village; and

(7) That the granting of the variation will be in harmony with the essential
character of the neighborhood.

See Section 3-4.9 Fences for specific standards for Administrative Variations

relating to residential corner lots.

h. Standards for Non-Administrative Variations. No application for variation from the
requirements of this code will be approved without an affirmative written finding
regarding the following standards:

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to
be used only under the conditions allowed by the regulations governing the
district in which it is located;

That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;

That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the
locality;

That the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions
of the specific property involved would bring a particular hardship upon the
owner as distinguished from a mere inconvenience if the strict letter of the
regulation were to be carried out;

That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not
be applicable generally to other property within the same zoning classification;
That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to
make more money out of the property;

That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person
presently having an interest in the property;

That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare
or injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which
the property is located; and

That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air
to adjacent property, or substantially increase the danger of fire, or otherwise
endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values
within the neighborhood.

i. Conditions on Variations. The Planning and Zoning Commission may require such
conditions and restrictions upon the property benefited by a variation necessary to
comply with the standards set forth in this Section to reduce or minimize the injurious
effect of such variation upon other property in the neighborhood and to implement

24



the general purpose and intent of this ordinance. Failure to comply with or maintain
such conditions will be grounds for the Village Board to revoke the variation.
j. Terms and Property Rights.

The terms of relief granted shall be specifically set forth in resolution, duly
adopted by the Planning and Zoning Commission, with the findings of fact. The
approval of a variation does not grant any rights related to the property other
than those specified in the resolution approving the variation. All other village
processes and approvals must be met including, without limitation, building
permits, subdivision approval, authorization of occupancy, and authorization
of zoning.

A variation will automatically expire and be of no force and effect six (6)

months after approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission unless the

applicant applies for and obtains a building permit and construction or

alteration of the building is started or the use is commenced within this six (6)-

month period; provided, however, that a time extension may be granted in

keeping with the following:

(1) The Zoning Administrator may grant an extension of one hundred eighty
(180) days within which a permit is to be issued and construction begun,
provided the applicant provides evidence of the delay being caused by
factors beyond their reasonable control.

(2) The Planning and Zoning Commission may grant a second one-hundred-
eighty (180)-day extension if a building permit and work on the project has
not commenced within eighteen (18) month time frame, if the applicant
provides evidence of the delay being caused by factors beyond their
control.

Every variation granted under this Subsection 3-4.3 will not be transferable

and run with the land.

4. Amendments.

a.

C.

Authority. The regulations established, and the districts created by this code may,
from time to time, be amended at the legislative discretion of and by an ordinance
duly adopted by the Village Board, only after receiving a recommendation from the

Planning and Zoning Commission.

Purpose. Amendments to this Section are intended to revise or refine the zoning code
or zoning map as needed to keep it a current and effective tool for development
regulation. Amendments should reflect new conditions or newly identified situations,
technologies, business approaches, or unexpected conditions. The amendment
process is not appropriate solely to relieve a particular inconvenience for an individual
applicant, as such amendments affect other aspects of the code or surrounding
properties.
Parties Entitled to Amendments. Applications for amendments may be filed by:

i.

the owner of, or any person, firm, or corporation having a contractual interest
in, a property to be affected by the amendment; or

25



by the village, through the Zoning Administrator, on the Zoning
Administrator’s own initiative, or at the direction of the Planning and Zoning
Commission, or Village Board.

d. Procedures.

Applications. Applications foramendments to this code or to the official zoning
map will be filed with the Zoning Administrator on an application form,
approved in form and substance by the Zoning Administrator, available in the
Zoning Administrator’s office. In addition to the general requirements for all
applications set forth in Subsection 3-4.1.a of this Section, the following
additional information must be submitted with an application for an
amendment:

(1) All applications for amendments must include:

(a) Property owners within two-hundred fifty (250) lineal feet,
excluding street rights-of-way, in all directions from the subject
property as shown in the records of the Offices of the Assessor of
Will County, as appropriate;

(b)  Property owners located on the same frontage or frontages as the
front lot line or corner side lot line of the subject property or on a
frontage directly opposite any such frontage or on a frontage
immediately adjoining or across an alley from any such frontage, as
shown in the records of the Offices of the Assessor of Will County,
as appropriate;

(c) A statement of how the Amendment sought would satisfy each of
the standards in Subsection 3-4.4.e of this Section; and

(d)  Other materials deemed necessary by the Zoning Administrator for
the Village to conduct a thorough assessment of the proposed
Amendment.

(2) Map Amendments applications must include:

(@) A graphic depicting proposed development or future use of the
subject property;

(b)  Description of the property characteristics preventing compliance
with the existing zoning;

() A narrative describing any proposed use or development of the
subject property, as well as such development’s compliance with
the proposed zoning district; and

(d)  Description of the length of time, if any, that the subject property
has been vacant, considered in the context of the pace of
development in the vicinity of the subject property.

Prior to scheduling a Public Hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will
hold an informal workshop to introduce the application and obtain general
background information from the applicant.

Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing. The Planning and Zoning
Commission will hold a public hearing regarding an Amendment at a regular

26



or special meeting. Any person may appear and testify at the public hearing,
either in person, in writing or by duly authorized agent.

Timing for Recommendation by Planning and Zoning Commission. Within
thirty-five (35) days of the close of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning
Commission will make a recommendation that is forwarded to the next
available Village Board meeting for approval, approval with modification, or
denial of the variation. Failure to do so within thirty-five (35) days, or longer
period if agreed to by the applicant, will be deemed a recommendation for
denial of the Amendment.

Decision by the Village Board. Within sixty (60) days following receipt of a
recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission, or such longer time
as may be agreed to by the applicant, the Village Board will either approve the
Amendment, deny the Amendment by ordinance duly adopted, or remand the
matter back to the Planning and Zoning Commission for further deliberation.
Failure of the Village Board to act within sixty (60) days following receipt of a
recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission, or such longer
time as many be agreed to by the applicant will be deed a denial of the
Amendment.

e. Standards for Amendments. The decision whether to approve or deny an amendment
to the village’s zoning text or to the zoning map is left to the legislative discretion of
the Village Board, after review and recommendation by the Planning and Zoning
Commission. However, in no event will any application for amendments to the
village’s zoning text or zoning map be approved without a satisfactory finding
regarding the following standards:

Potential Impacts. The amendment will not adversely impact existing land uses
in proximity to the property, or, in the case of a text amendment, the overall
zoning district purpose or intent of a code Section proposed for amendment.
The amendment should not unreasonably affect the value, use and enjoyment
of nearby properties.

Trend of Development and Consistency. Map amendments should be a logical
extension of the trend of development in the area around the property, or
consistent with the current village comprehensive plan. In the case of a text
amendment, the amendment will be consistent with the overall zoning district
purpose or intent of a code Section proposed for amendment.

Externalities. Relevant physical or market conditions that may have changed
to make the existing zoning of a property inappropriate, or that make the
proposed text amendment necessary for this Section to be in keeping with the
desirable development of the village will be specified.

Village Plans. Amendments will be consistent with the village’s current
comprehensive plan, official map, and all other plans and policies adopted by
the village.

Zoning Appropriateness. The extent to which use of the property (or relevant
properties in the case of a text amendment) is diminished by the current

27



zoning standards or designation and is no longer suitable for the underlying
zoning shall be specified.

5. Special Use Permits.

a.

d.

Authority. The districts created by this code include those uses permitted by right and
those authorized by special use permit. Special use permits may be approved and
authorized by ordinance duly adopted by the Village Board, only after receiving a
recommendation and related finding of fact from the Planning and Zoning
Commission.

Purpose. The development and execution of the zoning code is based upon the
division of the village into districts, within any one (1) of which the use of land and
buildings and structures, as related to the land, are essentially uniform. It is
recognized, however, that there are special uses which, because of their unique
character, cannot be properly classified in any particular district or districts without
consideration, in each case, of the impact of those uses upon neighboring lands and
upon the public need for the particular use at the particular location. Special uses fall
into two (2) categories:

i. Uses operated by a public agency or publicly regulated utilities or uses
traditionally affected with a public interest; or

ii.  Uses entirely private in character, but of such a nature that the operation may
give rise to unique problems with respect to their impact upon neighboring
property or public facilities. These include planned unit developments, as
more specifically addressed in Subsection 3-4.6 of this Section.

Parties Entitled to Special Use Permits. Applications for special use permits may be
filed by the owner of, or any person, firm, or corporation having a contractual interest
in, the property.

Procedures.

i.  Applications. Applications for special use permits to this code will be filed with
the Zoning Administrator on an application form, approved in form and
substance by the Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s
office. In addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in
Subsection 3-4.1.a, the following additional information must be submitted
with an application for a special use permit:

(1) A current survey, certified by an Illinois registered land surveyor, of the
subject property.

28



(2) Identification of existing zoning on subject property and within two
hundred and fifty (250) feet.
(3) A site plan meeting the requirements of Subsection 3-4.7 of this Section.
Planning and Zoning Commission Workshop. The Planning and Zoning
Commission will hold an informal workshop to introduce the special use
request at a regular or special meeting. Any person may appear and participate
in the workshop, either in person, in writing, or by duly authorized agent.
Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing. The Planning and Zoning
Commission will hold a public hearing regarding the special use permit at a
regular or special meeting. Any person may appear and testify at the public
hearing, either in person, in writing, or by duly authorized agent.
Timing for Recommendation. Within thirty-five (35) days of the close of the
public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission will make a
recommendation that is forwarded to the next available Village Board meeting
for approval, approval with modification, or denial of the special use permit.
The Planning and Zoning Commission will include any recommended
conditions on the issuance of the special use permit. Failure to do so within
thirty-five (35) days, or a longer period if agreed to by the applicant, will be
deemed a recommendation for denial of the special use permit.
Decision by the Village Board. Within sixty (60) days following receipt of a
recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Village Board
will either approve the special use permit with conditions, approve the special
use permit with modifications, including modification to or addition of
conditions, deny the special use permit, or remand the matter back to the
Planning and Zoning Commission for further deliberation. Failure of the Village
Board to act within sixty (60) days following receipt of a recommendation from
the Planning and Zoning Commission, or such longer time as may be agreed to
by the applicant will be deed a denial of the special use permit.

e. Standards for Special Use Permits. No application for a special use permit will be
approved without an affirmative written finding regarding the following standards:

The approval of such special use is in the public interest and not solely for the
interest of the applicant;

That the proposed use at that particular location requested is necessary or
desirable to provide a service or a facility which is in the interest of public
convenience and will contribute to the general welfare of the neighborhood
or community;

That such use will not under the circumstances of the particular case be
detrimental to the health, safety, morals, or general welfare of persons
residing or working in the vicinity or injurious to property values or
improvements in the vicinity; and

That the proposed use will comply with the regulations and conditions
specified in this ordinance for such use, and with the stipulations and
conditions made a part of the authorization granted by the Village Board.

29



f. Conditions on Special Use Permits. The Planning and Zoning Commission and Village
Board may require such conditions and restrictions upon the special use permit
necessary to comply with the standards set forth in this Section to reduce or minimize
the injurious effect of the special use permit upon other property in the neighborhood
and to implement the general purpose and intent of this ordinance. Failure to comply
with or maintain such conditions will be grounds for the Village Board to revoke the
special use permit.

g. Terms and Property Rights.

The terms of relief granted will be specifically set forth in the ordinance duly
adopted by the Village Board, with the findings of fact. The approval of a
special use permit does not grant any rights related to the property other than
those specified in the ordinance approving the special use permit. All other
village processes and approvals must be met including, without limitation,
building permits, subdivision approval, authorization of occupancy, and
authorization of zoning.

A special use permit will automatically expire and be of no force and effect one

(1) year after approval by the Village Board unless the applicant applies for and

obtains a building permit and construction or alteration of the building is

started or the use is commenced within this six (6)-month period; provided,
however, that a time extension may be granted in keeping with the following:

(1) The Zoning Administrator may grant an extension of one hundred eighty
(180) days within which a permit is to be issued and construction begun,
provided the applicant provides evidence of the delay being caused by
factors beyond their reasonable control.

(2) The Village Board may grant a second one-hundred eighty (180) day
extension if a building permit and work on the project has not commenced
within an eighteen (18)-month time frame, if the applicant provides
evidence of the delay being caused by factors beyond their control.

A special use permit is granted to and personal to the applicant and is not

transferable to any other party and will not run with the land, unless

specifically approved by the Village Board. However, as more specifically
provided in this Subsection 3-4.6, special use permits for planned unit
development will run with the land and be transferable to other parties.

30



iv.

A special use permit will automatically expire and no longer be in effect if the
use to which it was granted, for any reason, is discontinued for a period of one
(1) year.

6. Special Use — Planned Developments.

a. Authority. The districts created by this code include the ability to creatively address
unique development concepts that may include single land use categories or mixed
land uses through a planned development process. Special use planned developments
may be approved and authorized by ordinance duly adopted by the Village Board, only
after receiving a recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission.

b. Purpose.

Planned developments are complex and of a different character than other
special uses, requiring the establishment of more specific procedures,
standards, and exceptions in order to guide the recommendations of the
Planning and Zoning Commission and to facilitate appropriate action of the
Village Board.
Planned developments allow greater design flexibilities than is permitted by
the standard regulations for land developments where the planned
development would better utilize the topographic and natural character of the
site and would produce a more economical and stable development while
encouraging the conservation of natural features.
Planned developments are generally intended to provide for projects
incorporating a single type of use or a variety of related and complementary
uses which are planned and developed as a unit. Planned developments may
provide for a wide range of development techniques and ownership methods,
including conventional subdivisions, cluster developments, condominium
ownership of land and buildings, or other ownership techniques. The entire
development will be controlled by means of a special use planned unit
development ordinance and site plan which establishes densities and the
approximate location of buildings and extent of the features of the planned
unit development in keeping with the land use policies of the Beecher
comprehensive plan.

The following objectives may be obtained through the use of the planned

development procedure:

(1) To ensure that the future growth and development which occurs is in
accordance with the current comprehensive plan and planning policies of
the village;

(2) To provide a more desirable living environment by preserving and
integrating the natural environmental and landscape features of the
property into land development;

(3) To encourage developers to use a more creative approach to site design
by recognizing and respecting the natural limitations and constraints of
sites;

(4) To encourage a more aesthetic, efficient, and ecologically compatible use
of land through a site design process which incorporates and integrates

31



(oN

natural site features in a manner which minimizes development costs and
services;

(5) To encourage the provision of usable open space within a reasonable
distance of all dwelling units;

(6) To facilitate in a cost-effective manner the development and maintenance
of adequate public services such as transportation, water, sewage, storm
drainage, usable open space, and parks;

(7) To encourage patterns of land use which decrease trip lengths of
automobile travel and encourage trip consolidation;

(8) To increase public access to mass transit, bicycle routes, and other
alternative modes of transportation;

(9) To reduce energy demand and consumption;

(10) To provide for usable and suitably located recreation facilities,
schools, and other public and private facilities;

(12) To encourage the introduction of related and complementary uses
that best promote the public health, safety, and general welfare; and

(12) To allow clustering of residential uses on smaller lots to conserve
open space.

Parties Entitled to Special Use Planned Developments. Applications for special use
planned developments may be filed by the owner of, or any person, firm, or
corporation having a contractual interest in a property.

General Requirements for all Planned Developments. The basic provisions and
requirements concerning planned development are as follows:

Vi.

A planned development will initially be under single ownership or unified
control at the time of filing the application.

A planned development shall be a minimum of three (3) acres in size.

A planned development will not be subject to the bulk regulations of the
zoning district where it is located, unless the planned unit development is a
mixed use or commercial planned unit development that abuts residentially
zoned land, in which case the perimeter yards of the entire planned unit
development must adhere to the applicable yard setbacks of the zoning
district.

Public improvements will be constructed in accordance with existing
ordinances and regulations of the village.

Residential planned developments will provide for dedication or reservation
of land for park and recreational purposes, and land for school sites, or cash
contributions in lieu of actual land dedication, or a combination of both in
accordance with the subdivision regulations of the village.

The Village Board may, upon recommendation of the Planning and Zoning
Commission as to benefits to the village, grant waivers and departures from
standards for the lot, yard, and bulk regulations of this ordinance for planned
developments if such waivers and departures are consistent with the general
purpose of the ordinance and will result in better site planning and be of

32



Vii.

viii.

greater benefit both to the occupants of the planned development, to the
surrounding neighborhood, and to the village as a whole.

The planned development will not have negative impacts on existing or
proposed transportation systems and generally consistent with the
comprehensive plan. The planned development will not create any negative
impact on public services.

All planned unit developments, except commercial redevelopment planned
unit developments, will contain at least one (1) acre of land as an integral unit.
However, the Planning and Zoning Commission may, upon an applicant
presenting information and plans demonstrating that a smaller area is
appropriate, recommend and the Village Board may, at its sole and absolute
discretion, grant exceptions to this minimum land requirement as part of the
special use ordinance authorizing the planned development. Commercial
redevelopment planned unit developments will have no minimum size
requirements.

e. Procedures — Pre-application Conference.

The extent and scope of planned developments require a significant
investment of time and resources on the part of the applicant. The village
requires planned development applicants to have a preapplication conference
with the Zoning Administrator, Village Engineer, and Village President. The
pre-application conference is coordinated by the Zoning Administrator and is
conducted in a public meeting before the Village Board. After the pre-
application conference, the Village Board shall forward the application for a
PUD to the Planning and Zoning Commission for formal review.
The preapplication conference enables the applicant to present the planned
development concept before investing significant time and resources into a
planned development project and obtain useful information and suggested
guidance on aspects of the proposed planned development. The
preapplication conference in no way whatsoever binds, or otherwise legally
obligates, the applicant or the village to any part of the proposed planned
development and is advisory only. Among the purposes of the preapplication
meeting, aside from the overall concept, are:
(1) Procedures to be followed to review a proposed development;
(2) Information to be submitted with an application to facilitate review of the
proposed planned development; and
(3) Any special or unusual concerns that may affect the design of the
development.

f. Procedures — Preliminary Plan. Planned development is formally processed in two (2)
stages, the preliminary plan stage and final plan stage. The following explains the
preliminary plan process.

Preliminary Plan Purpose. The preliminary plan stage provides the applicant
an opportunity to submit a plan showing the basic scope, character and nature
of the entire proposed planned development without incurring undue cost.
The preliminary plan is the basis on which the required public hearing is held,

33



permitting public consideration of the proposal at the earliest possible stage.

In order to permit the village and the applicant to proceed with some

assurance, approval of the preliminary plan binds the applicant and the Village

with respect to the following basic elements of development:

(1) Categories of uses to be permitted;

(2) location of residential and nonresidential land uses;

(3) maximum density of residential uses and intensity of nonresidential uses;

(4) architectural style of the proposed development;

(5) General location and extent of public and private open space, including
recreational amenities;

(6) Anticipated location of vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems;

(7) Staging of development; and

(8) Nature, scope, and extent of public dedications, improvements, or
contributions to be provided by the applicant.

Applications. Applications for preliminary plan approval will be filed with the

Zoning Administrator on an application form, approved in form and substance

by the Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s office. In

addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in

Subsection 3-4.1.a, the following additional information must be submitted

with an application for a special use permit, unless waived by the Zoning

Administrator or Planning and Zoning Commission, at their sole and absolute

discretion:

(1) Maps. The following maps and surveys that must be drawn at a scale of
one hundred (100) feet to the inch (one (1) inch equals one hundred (100)
feet) and show an additional two hundred (200) feet on adjacent property
around the perimeter of the proposed development:

(2) Boundary survey. A boundary line survey of the property that must be
prepared and certified by a registered land surveyor.

(3) Topography. A topography map showing existing topographic features of
the land with contours shown at intervals no greater than two (2) feet.
Topographic data will refer to the U.S.G.S. North American Datum—Mean
Sea Level Elevation.

(4) Site analysis. A detailed site analysis of the property which shall show the
following information:

(a)  Physical factors information:

(i)  Existing land uses both on the site and adjacent to it;

(ii)  Soil survey and report from the Will-South Cook Soil and
Water Conservation District;

(iii)  Portions of the site in any floodway and floodplain fringe
area;

(iv)  Streams, drainage ditches, culverts, and standing water;

(v)  Isolated preservable trees six (6) inches or more in diameter
at one (1) foot above ground level;

(vi)  Traffic study and/or plan; and

34



(vii)  General directions of the stormwater run-off across the
property.
(viii)  Other information.

(5) Preliminary land use plan. A proposed land use plan which shall be drawn
upon a print of the topographic map for the site. The proposed land use
plan shall contain the following information:

(@)  Identification and description:

(i)  Name of the planned unit development;

(i)  Location of the subject site by Section, town, and range or
by other approved legal description;

(iii)  Name and address of the site planner and or engineer;

(iv)  Name and address of legal title owner or beneficial owner,
and developer if different;

(v)  Scale, north point, and date of preparation; and

(vi)  Acreage.

(6) Design feature information showing:

(@)  Right-of-way alignments, widths, and proposed names for all
streets. Streets should have a simple phonetic spelling and not
duplicate or create confusion with the names of existing village
streets. All street names will be approved by the village police and
fire departments;

(b)  The location and height of all nonresidential, multi-family, or
single-family attached buildings and structures;

(c)  Off-street parking and service areas;

(d)  All areas to be dedicated as common open space and all sites to be
conveyed, dedicated, or reserved for parks, playgrounds, school
sites, public buildings, and similar public and quasi-public uses;

(e)  All other information necessary to clearly show the proposed
elements of the planned development;

(f)  Preliminary engineering plan. Preliminary engineering plans for all
public or private improvements. The preliminary engineering plans
will be approved by the village engineer; and

(g)  Preliminary plat. A preliminary plat prepared in accordance with
the procedures of the village’s subdivision control ordinance.

iii.  Written Documents. Written documents that will be included as part of the
application for approval of the preliminary plan are:

(1) Statement of Objectives. A statement of planning objectives to be
achieved by the particular approach proposed by the applicant. This
statement should include a description of the character of the proposed
development and the rationale behind the assumptions and choices made
by the applicant.

(2) Statement of Ownership and Occupancy Intentions. A statement of the
applicant's intentions with regard to the future selling or leasing of all or
portions of the land areas or structures.

35



(3) Statement of Public Benefits. A statement on the benefits of the planned
unit development for the village, including unique uses, design, etc.

(4) Private Facilities and Improvements; Owners’ Association Declaration.
When private improvements and facilities are made part of a planned
development, the applicant will submit, as part of the application, the
method and arrangement whereby these private improvements and
facilities will be operated and maintained. When there are private
improvements and facilities to be held in common ownership, a draft
owners’ association declaration that must include, in substantially similar
and relevant form, the following association covenants, conditions, and
restrictions:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)
(h)

The membership in the owners’ association shall be mandatory for
each and every owner, and successive owner, of all located on the
property.

The owners’ association will be responsible for the continuity, care,
conservation, maintenance and operation, in a first-rate condition,
and in accordance with predetermined standards, of the common
areas, including without limitation all equipment, appurtenances,
ponds, detention facilities, and perimeter fencing located on or
within the common areas and the cost of power required for the
affected equipment and appurtenances.

The owners’ association shall be responsible for casualty and
liability insurance, and the village will be named as an additional
insured on all policies of liability insurance obtained by the owners'
association.

The owners on the property or the owners’ association, as
applicable, will be responsible real estate taxes for the common
areas.

The owners on the property will pay their pro rata share of all costs
and expenses incurred by the owners’ association by means of an
assessment to be levied by the owners’ association that meets the
requirements for becoming a lien on the property in accordance
with the statutes of the state of lllinois.

The owners’ association will have the right to adjust the
assessment to meet changed needs except any assessment
imposed by the village. The membership vote required to authorize
an adjustment shall not be fixed at more than fifty-one (51) percent
of the members voting on the issue.

The owners' association shall be created and established prior to
the sale of any portion of the property.

The village, as well as the owners on the property, will have the
right to enforce the declaration.

The village will have the right, but not the obligation, after ten (10)
days written notice to the owners’ association, (i) to perform any

36



maintenance or repair work that, in the sole opinion of the village,
the owners’ association has neglected to perform on the common
areas, (ii) to assess the membership for that work, (iii) to file a lien
against the property of the owners’ association or the property of
any member failing to pay the assessment, and (iii) and to enforce
the lien in the manner provided by law for mortgage foreclosure
proceedings.

(j)  The declaration will run with and bind any and all portions of the
property, and will be binding on the developer, and its successors
in interest, to all portions of the property; provided, however, that
the declaration may provide for its amendment, modification, or
termination at any time upon obtaining the prior consent of the
village to said amendment, modification, or termination.

(5) Quantitative summary. A quantitative summary including, but not limited
to, the following:

(a)  Acreage and square footage of the property;

(b)  Residential density;

(c)  Total square footage of coverage by principal buildings;

(d)  Total square footage of coverage by accessory buildings;

(e)  Square footage of roads;

(f)  Square footage of exterior parking areas;

(g)  Number of parking spaces;

(h)  Percentage of ground cover for principal buildings, accessory
buildings, parking areas, roads, and recreational facilities,
individually and collectively;

(i)  Square footage of uncovered ground on site; and

(j)  Square footage of commonly owned and maintained open space.

(6) Open space statement. A statement describing why the area for usable
common open space was chosen, the unique advantages it offers, and how
it is envisioned that residents will utilize the space either actively or
passively.

(7) Staging; Construction Schedule. The stages in which the project will be
built and the approximate dates when construction of each stage can be
expected to begin and to end, with emphasis given to area density, use,
and public facilities such as open space to be developed in each stage.

(8) Market research report. If retail development is planned, adequate
evidence to establish the demand for the retail development will be
provided in the form of a market research report examining retail supply
and demand.

(9) Other information. Other information may be requested if the Planning
and Zoning Commission finds that the planned development may create
special problems for traffic, parking, landscaping, or economic feasibility.
The information may include, but is not limited to, any of the following:

(a)  An off-street parking and loading plan;

37



(10)

(11)

(12)

(b)

(c)

(d)

A traffic study indicating the volume of traffic to be generated by
the planned development or a phase of it and proposing any special
engineering design features or traffic regulation devices needed to
ensure the proper safety of traffic circulation to, through, and
around the planned development or a phase of it;

A tax impact study detailing the impact which the planned
development will have upon all taxing bodies. In addition, the
expected number of students to be generated by any residential
portion of it will be quantified in accordance with the village
subdivision regulations; and

A landscaping planting plan, indicating the height, size, location,
guantities, and variety of stock to be planted, using botanical and
common names.

Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing on Preliminary

Plan. The Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing
regarding the preliminary plan at a regular or special meeting. Any person
may appear and testify at the public hearing, either in person, in writing,
or by duly authorized agent.

Timing for Recommendation on Preliminary Plan. Within thirty-five

(35) days of the close of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning
Commission will make a recommendation that is forwarded to the next
available Village Board meeting for approval, approval with modification,
or denial of the preliminary plan for the special use planned development.
The Planning and Zoning Commission will include any recommended
conditions on the approval of the preliminary plan and issuance of the
special use planned development ordinance. Failure to do so within thirty-
five (35) days, or longer period if agreed to by the applicant, will be
deemed a recommendation for denial of the preliminary plan and special
use planned development ordinance.

(a)

Decision by the Village Board on Preliminary Plan.

Within sixty (60) days following receipt of a recommendation by
the Planning and Zoning Commission, the Village Board will either
approve the preliminary plan and special use planned development
ordinance with conditions, approve with modifications, including
modification to or addition of conditions, deny the special use
planned development ordinance, or remand the matter back to the
Planning and Zoning Commission for further deliberation. Failure
of the Village Board to act within sixty (60) days following receipt
of a recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission,
or such longer time as many be agreed to by the applicant will be
deemed a denial of the special use planned development
ordinance.

38



(b) If the preliminary plan is disapproved, the Village Board will file a
written decision that will be filed with the Clerk, and a copy sent to
the applicant.

(c)  If the preliminary plan is approved, the Village Board will authorize
the applicant to submit a final development plan for the planned
unit development, which final plan must be submitted for approval
not more than one (1) year from the date of approval of the
preliminary plan and special use planned development ordinance.

(23) Standards for Special Use Planned Developments. No application
for a special use planned development will be approved without an
affirmative written finding regarding the following standards:

(a)  Each of the standards for special use permits set forth in Subsection
3-4.6.f of this Section.

(b)  General. The following general standards:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The uses permitted by such exceptions as may be requested
or recommended are necessary or desirable and
appropriate to the purpose of the development.

The uses permitted in such development are not of such a
nature or so located as to exercise an undue detrimental
influence or effect upon the surrounding neighborhood.
The site plan effectively treats the developmental
possibilities of the property, making appropriate provisions
for the preservation of streams, wooded areas, floodplain
areas, and similar physical features.

All minimum requirements pertaining to business, office
research, residential, industrial, or other uses established in
the planned development will conform to the requirements
for each individual classification as established elsewhere in
this ordinance. These minimum requirements, however,
may be specifically varied in the ordinance granting and
establishing a planned unit development use.

The suitability of the arrangements for operating and
maintaining private improvements facilities and whether
the owners’ association declaration meets the minimum
requirements set forth in this Section.

Any waiver or departures from standards from applicable
bulk regulations will be solely for the purpose of promoting
an integrated site plan which is more beneficial to the
occupants of the planned development as well as the
neighboring property, that would be obtained under the
bulk regulations of this ordinance for buildings developed
on separate zoning lots.

Off-street parking and loading shall be provided in
accordance with the provisions set forth in this ordinance.

39



(viii)
(ix)
(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

All signs shall follow the provisions of this ordinance unless
otherwise amended by the PUD.

All planned unit developments shall comply with the
performance standards set forth in this ordinance.

The planned development will be accessible from public
roads which are adequate to carry the traffic that will be
imposed upon them by the planned development. The
streets and driveways on the site of the planned
development will be adequate to serve the enterprises
located in the proposed development. Traffic-control
signals will be provided without expense to the village when
the Village Board, or other agency having jurisdiction over
adjacent rights-of-way, determine that signals are required
to prevent traffic hazards or congestion in adjacent streets.
Planned developments must provide for underground
installation of all utilities in both public ways and private
extensions thereof. Provisions shall be made for acceptable
design and construction of stormwater facilities including
grading, gutter, piping, and treatment of turf to handle
stormwaters.

Limitation on Preliminary Plan Approval. Approval of the
preliminary plan will not constitute approval of the final
plan. Rather it is deemed an expression of approval of the
layout submitted on the preliminary plan as a guide to the
preparation of the final plan or plans. No building permit
will be issued for any structure until a final plan has been
approved and filed with the Will County recorder of deeds,
as appropriate.

Optional Submission of Final Plan. The applicant may, at its
option, submit a final plan for the proposed planned
development pursuant to the requirements of Subsection
3-4.6.f of this Section simultaneously with the submission
of the preliminary plan pursuant to the requirements of this
Subsection 3-4.6.e The Planning and Zoning Commission
and the Village Board will consider the plans simultaneously
and will grant or deny final plan approval in accordance with
the provisions of Subsection 3-4.6.f of this Section.

40



01

> 02 > 03

g. Procedures —Final Plan.

Final Plan Purpose. The final plan is intended to particularize, refine, and
implement the preliminary plan and to serve as a complete, thorough and
permanent public record of the planned development and the manner in
which it is to be developed.
Application. Upon or within two (2) years after approval of the preliminary
plan and special use planned development ordinance, the applicant will file
with the Zoning Administrator an application for final plan approval.
Applications for final plan approval will be filed with the Zoning Administrator
on an application form, approved in form and substance by the Zoning
Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s office. An application
for final plan approval may include the entire area included in the approved
preliminary plan or one (1) or more phases, stages, or units of the preliminary
plan. In addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in
this Section, the following additional information must be submitted with an
application for final plan, or the first phase, stage, or unit submitted for final
plan approval:

(1) All publicimprovements required or proposed for the entire area included
in the approved preliminary plan.

(2) All open space required or proposed for the entire area included in the
approved preliminary plan.

(3) approved preliminary plan.

(4) The payment of all fees required by this ordinance.

(5) Preliminary plan action by Planning and Zoning Commission.

Planning and Zoning Commission Final Plan Process.

(1) Public Meeting. A public meeting will be set and conducted by the Planning
and Zoning Commission to determine whether the final plan substantially
complies with the preliminary plan.

(2) Timing for Recommendation. Within sixty (60) days following the filing of
an application for approval of a final plan, or one (1) or more phases,
stages, or units of the preliminary plan, the Planning and Zoning

41



Commission will, with such aid and advice of village staff and consultants
as may be appropriate, review and make a recommendation on the final

plan.

(3) Final Plan Evaluation. The Planning and Zoning Commission will consider
the following when evaluating the final plan, or one (1) or more phases,
stages, or units of the preliminary plan:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Whether the final plan is in substantial conformity with the
approved preliminary plan;

The merit or lack of merit of any departure of the final plan from
substantial conformity with the approved preliminary plan;
Whether the final plan complies with any and all conditions
imposed by approval of the preliminary plan; and

Whether the final plan complies with the provisions of this code
and all other applicable federal, state, and village codes,
ordinances, and regulations.

(4) Forms of Recommendation.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Approval Based on Substantial Conformity. If the Planning and
Zoning Commission find substantial conformity between the final
plan and the approved preliminary plan and further finds the final
plan to be in all other respects complete and in compliance with
any and all conditions imposed by approval of the preliminary plan
and with the provisions of this code and all other applicable federal,
state and village codes, ordinances and regulations, it will transmit
the plan to the Village Board with its recommendation that the
Village Board approve the final plan, with or without modifications
and conditions to be accepted by the applicant as a condition of
approval.
Recommendation of Denial. In any case where the Planning and
Zoning Commission finds that the final plan is not in substantial
conformity with the approved preliminary plan and does not merit
approval, or in any case where it requires modifications of a final
plan that are not accepted by the applicant, the Planning and
Zoning Commission will transmit the final plan to the Village Board
together with its recommendation and specific reasons in support
of its recommendation that the final plan not be approved.
Failure to Act. The failure of the Planning and Zoning Commission
to act within the sixty (60)-day period specified in Subsection 3-
4.6.g.iii of this Section, or such further time as the applicant may
agree, will be deemed to be arecommendation to the Village Board
to approve the final plan as submitted.
Village Board Final Plan Process.

(i)  Action by Village Board. Within sixty (60) days following the

receipt of the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning

42



Commission, or its failure to act, the Village Board will take
action in accordance with the following:

1)  Approval Based on Substantial Conformity. If the
Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended
approval of a final plan, the Village Board will, unless
it specifically rejects one (1) or more of the findings
of the Planning and Zoning Commission on the basis
of expressly stated reasons, approve the final plan
by ordinance.

2)  Approval Notwithstanding Planning and Zoning
Commission Recommendation of Denial. If the
Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended
denial of a final plan, the Village Board may, if it finds
that the final plan merits approval and otherwise
conforms to the requirements of this code, approve
the final plan by ordinance.

3)  Referral Back to Planning and Zoning Commission.
The Village Board may refer the final plan back to
the Planning and Zoning Commission for further
consideration.

4)  Conditions on Final Plan Approval. The approval of
any final plan may, in addition, be granted, with or
without modifications and conditions to be
accepted by the applicant as a condition of approval.

5)  Failure to Act. The failure of the Village Board to act
within sixty (60) days, or such further time to which
the applicant may agree, will be deemed to be a
decision denying final plan approval.

(5) Coordination With Subdivision Ordinance. When a subdivision of land
subject to the subdivision ordinance is proposed in connection with a
planned development, review of the final plat of the proposed subdivision
will be carried out simultaneously with review of the final plan by both the
Planning and Zoning Commission and Village Board.

(6) Post Final Plan Procedures.

(a)

(b)

Recording of Final Plan. When a final plan is approved, the Zoning
Administrator will cause the final plan, or the or one (1) or more
phases, stages, or units of the final plan, to be recorded with the
Recorder of Deeds of Will County, as appropriate.

Limitation on Final Plan Approval. Construction will commence in
accordance with the approved final plan within one (1) year after
its approval, or within such shorter time as may be established by
the approved development schedule. Failure to commence
construction within any such period will, unless an extension of
time has been granted by the Village Board pursuant to this

43



Section, automatically render void the final plan approval and all
approvals of the planned development and all permits based on
such approvals, and the Zoning Administrator will, without further
direction, initiate an appropriate application to revoke the special
use permit for all portions of the planned development that have
not yet been completed.

(c)  Building and Other Permits.

(i) Appropriate officials of the village may, upon, but not
before, receiving notice from the Zoning Administrator that
the documents required for final plan approval have been
approved, and upon proper application by the applicant,
issue building and other permits to the applicant for the
development, construction and other work in the area
encompassed by the approved final plan; provided
however, that no permit will be issued unless the
appropriate official is first satisfied that the requirements of
any codes or ordinances of the village, in addition to this
code, that are applicable to the permit sought have been
satisfied.

(ii)  Building permits may, however, be withheld at the
discretion of the Zoning Administrator or the Village Board
at any time it is determined that the development of the
planned development is not proceeding in strict compliance
with the approved final plan.

h. Changes After Final Plan Approval.

De Minimus Change. The Zoning Administrator, in consultation with other
village departments, as appropriate, may authorize de minimus changes to an
approved final plan when the adjustments are necessary in light of technical
or engineering considerations.

Minor Change. Any adjustment to an approved final plan, that does not result
in a change to the concept or intent of the planned unit development, and
which changes are less than a five (5) percent change in any restriction set
forth in the final plan or pursuant to any relevant ordinance or agreement for
the planned unit development, will be considered a minor adjustment and will
be granted only after application to, and approval by, the Village Board, by
ordinance duly adopted. A minor change will not require a public hearing
before the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Major Change. Any adjustment to an approved final plan that results in
alteration of the concept or intent of the planned unit development, or which
changes are greater than five (5) percent change in any restriction set forth in
the final plan or pursuant to any relevant ordinance or agreement for the
planned unit development, will be granted only after application to, and
approval by, the Village Board, by ordinance duly adopted. Application for a

44



major adjustment will be considered at a public hearing before the Planning
and Zoning Commission.

7. Site Plan Review.

a.

Authority. The Zoning Administrator will perform a site plan review for uses and
developments requiring building permits for construction in the zoning districts and
other instances noted in Subsection 3-4.7.d of this Section. This will not include cases
in which building permit applications are made only for to the interior or facade of a
structure. In cases where a building permit application includes site development and
interior or facade construction, proposed improvements to the interior or fagcade will
not be part of the site plan review consideration. Site plan review approval is not
required for applications considered through a special use process, as those matters
are reviewed during the village’s review of the special use application.
Purpose. Site plan review addresses uses, developments, and redevelopments
appropriate for a zoning district, but considers that there may be potential adverse
impacts for how a site is designed or used, and that require a more detailed evaluation
than is otherwise incorporated to building permit, life safety, and related
considerations. The standards and procedures in this Subsection 3-4.7 are designed
to provide a thoughtful and efficient evaluation of such development applications.
Parties Who may submit for Site Plan Review. Applications for site plan review may
be filed by the owner of, or any person, firm, or corporation having a contractual
interest in, the property.
Site Plan Review Required. The Zoning Administrator will conduct site plan review for
sites located in the following zoning districts, and notify the Planning and Zoning
Commission of such review, in the following instances:
i.  The following zoning base and overlay districts:
(1) Any development or redevelopment in a Tax Increment Financing District;
(2) Any development or redevelopment in the B-1 Historic Downtown
Business District; and
(3) Any development or redevelopment in the B-3 General Business District;
ii. Any development or redevelopment, other than for one (1) single family
detached dwelling unit, involving a parcel under single ownership or control
having an area in excess of twenty thousand (20,000) square feet.
iii.  Any development or redevelopment involving the creation or expansion of a
parking lot or garage or a loading space.
iv.  Anynonresidential development on a lot abutting or across a right of way from
any residential district.
v. Any development or redevelopment involving a personal wireless services
antenna, with or without an antenna support structure, that is not a special
permit use.

e. Procedures.

i.  Applications. Applications for site plan review will be filed with the Zoning
Administrator on an application form, approved in form and substance by the
Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s office. In
addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in

45



Subsection 3-3.1.a, the following additional information must be submitted

with an application for site plan review:

(1) Plans/Drawings:

(@) A graphic depicting proposed development of the property.
(b) A current survey, certified by a registered land surveyor, of the
subject property.

(2) A description and graphic describing the proposal for which site plan
approval is being sought and of the existing zoning classification, use, and
development of the property.

(3) A graphic rendering of the existing conditions, which depicts all significant
natural, topographical, and physical features of the subject property
including, drainage structure and pattern, relevant soil conditions, and
topographical contours at one (1)-foot intervals;

(4) The location, use, size, and height in stories and feet of structures and
other land uses on adjacent properties.

(5) Data and related calculations concerning proposed structures and existing
structures that will remain, including:

(a) Location, size, use, and height;

(b)  Where relevant, gross floor area and floor area ratio;

(c)  Where relevant, number and size of dwelling units, by dwelling unit
type and number of bedrooms; and

(d)  Building coverage.

(6) Yard and setback dimensions and dimensions related to the height, width,
and depth of any structure, as well as proximity to property lines.

(7) A vehicular and pedestrian circulation plan showing the location,
dimensions, gradient and number of all vehicular and pedestrian
circulation elements.

(8) All existing and proposed drainage, retention, and detention facilities, and
existing and proposed utilities and easements.

(9) Location, size and arrangements of all outdoor signs and lighting.

(10) Location and height of fences or screen plantings and the type or
kind of building materials or plantings to be used for fencing or screening.

(112) Location, designation, and total area of all usable open space.

(22) A detailed landscaping plan, showing location, size, and species of
all trees, shrubs, and other plant material.

(23) A traffic study, if deemed necessary by the Zoning Administrator.

Decision by Zoning Administrator. Within sixty (60) days following receipt of

an application for site plan review, the Zoning Administrator will either:

(1) approve the site plan as submitted;

(2) approve it subject to conditions based on the standards noted below, with
a written explanation to the applicant; or

(3) deny approval of the site plan with written findings provided to the
applicant pursuant to the standards below. The failure of the Zoning
Administrator to act within sixty (60) days, or such further time to which

46



the applicant may agree, will be deemed to be a decision approving the
site plan as submitted. In reviewing a submitted site plan regarding the
standards below, the Zoning Administrator may suggest alternative site
plan or design approaches that could address specified deficiencies or may
note that such deficiencies that cannot be avoided would have a minimal
adverse impact on the property or nearby properties.

Effect of Zoning Administrator Action. Approval of a site plan by the Zoning

Administrator, acceptance of required modifications by the applicant, or

agreement by the applicant and Zoning Administrator on an approach to

address required modifications will constitute final action regarding site plan
review. All other village building permit and village code requirements must
still be met for the proposed construction.

Appeals. If the Zoning Administrator denies a site plan review application and

the applicant wishes to appeal that denial, the applicant will file such appeal

in accordance with this Section.

Standards for Site Plan Review. In considering a site plan submitted for review

pursuant to this Subsection 3-4.7, the Zoning Administrator will consider the

following standards:

The application must be complete as specified in this chapter, other Village

regulations, or other requirements specified by the village.

(1) Any other application for approval by the village or other jurisdiction
relevant to items considered under site plan review must be successfully
secured.

(2) The proposed site plan or design is internally logical and safe and facilitates
clear understanding of travel and circulation within the property, as well
as to and from the site by vehicles, pedestrians, and bicyclists.

(3) The proposed site plan and design do not interfere with easements or
rights-of-way, or create traffic hazards or congestion on surrounding public
streets.

(4) The proposed site plan or design does not adversely impact use and
enjoyment of surrounding properties.

(5) Outdoor storage is adequately screened.

(6) The proposed site plan, or design, does not create adverse impacts related
to drainage or erosion for the subject site or nearby properties, and
complies with all local, county, state, and federal requirements.

(7) The proposed site plan or design should not place unreasonable burdens
on village or other utility systems serving the site or area. The site plan
should integrate site utilities into the overall existing and planned utility
systems serving the village.

(8) The proposed site plan or design must provide for required public
improvements as may be directed in this Section, the comprehensive plan,
village planning documents, or other aspects of this code.

(9) The proposed site plan or design shall not adversely impact the public
health, safety or general welfare of the village.

47



Time Constraints. Unless an extension is granted by the Zoning Administrator as a
result of a written request by the applicant showing good cause and external factors
necessitating an extension, no site plan or design approval will be valid for a period
longer than six months (6) unless a building permit is issued. Within one (1) year of
site plan review approval, construction must have begun and (if not completed) be
actively pursued to completion.

g. Modifications.

i.  During development of the site, the Zoning Administrator may approve an
adjustment to the approved site plan if such change could been have
authorized in the course of the original review.

ii.  Amendments to Site Plan Following Completion of Development. After a site
is developed in accordance with an approved site plan, the site plan may be
altered, if in the determination of the Zoning Administrator and based on the
standards for review in Subsection 3-4.7.e.v, in the same manner and subject
to the same limitations as provided for the original approval of site plans.

< s &

01 > 02 ~ 03

8. Certificate of Zoning Compliance.

a.

Authority. The Zoning Administrator will have authority to issue certificates of zoning
compliance, but only in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3-4.8.
Purpose. The certificate of zoning compliance is intended to serve two (2) general
purposes. First, it provides a procedure for reviewing plans for conformance with this
code and a means for evidencing such conformance. Second, it serves as an adjunct
to, and must be filed prior to or with, all other applications filed pursuant to this code
with respect to a specific use or development proposal. When so filed, it serves as a
vehicle for routine plan review by the Zoning Administrator prior to consideration of
special requests by other officials, boards, and commissions, avoiding needless special
reviews of defective plans.

48



c. Except where expressly waived by another provision of this code, unless a certificate
of zoning compliance has first been obtained from the Zoning Administrator:

the construction, repair, structural alteration, remodeling, alteration, or
moving of any structure shall not be commenced,;

no land vacant on the effective date of this Code shall be used or occupied for
any purpose, except the raising of crops;

the grading, excavation, or improvement of land preliminary to any
construction on or use of such land shall not be commenced; and

building or other permits pertaining to the construction, repair, remodeling,
structural alteration, or moving of any structure or the use of any land or
structure shall not be issued by the Village.

In any case where a certificate of zoning compliance is not required under this
code, the Zoning Administrator will, upon written request, issue a certificate
verifying this fact.

d. Relation to Other Applications. No application for a zoning variation, special use
permit, map amendment, or formal application for approval of a planned unit
development will be processed, unless an application for a certificate of zoning
compliance is first received, processed, and approved, or denied solely on one (1) or
more grounds that form the basis for the application. It is the intent of this Subsection
3-4.8.d that no application filed for a specific use or development proposal will be
processed until the Zoning Administrator is satisfied that the proposed use or
development complies with the provisions of this code in all respects except those
within the scope of such application.

e. Procedure.

Application. Applications for certificates of zoning compliance will be filed with

the Zoning Administrator on an application form, approved in form and

substance by the Zoning Administrator, available in the Zoning Administrator’s
office. In addition to the general requirements for all applications set forth in

Subsection 3-2.1.a, the following additional information must be submitted

with an application for site plan review:

(1) A description or graphic representation of any development or
construction that will occur or any use that will be established or
maintained if the requested relief is granted.

(2) A table showing the following, if applicable:

(@)  The total lot area of the subject property, in acres and in square
feet;

(b)  The total existing and proposed lot area, expressed in acres, in
square feet, and as a percent of the total development area,
devoted to residential uses, by type of structure, commercial uses,
office uses, industrial uses, and institutional uses, open space,
rights-of-way, streets, and off-street parking and loading areas; and

(c)  The existing and proposed:

()  Number of dwelling units, by number of bedrooms and
dwelling unit gross

49



(ii) Gross and net floor area devoted to residential uses,
commercial uses, office uses, industrial uses, institutional
uses, and recreational uses.

(3) A table listing all bulk, space, and yard requirements, all parking
requirements, and all loading requirements applicable to any proposed
development or construction and showing the compliance of such
proposed development or construction with each such requirement.
Where any lack of compliance is shown, the reason therefor shall be stated
and an explanation of the village's authority, if any, to approve the
application despite such lack of compliance shall be set forth.

(4) The certificate of a registered architect or civil engineer licensed by the
state of lllinois, or of an owner-designer, that any proposed use,
construction, or development complies with all the provisions of this code
and other village ordinances or complies with such provisions except in the
manner and to the extent specifically set forth in said certificate.

Action on Application. Within thirty (30) days following receipt of a completed

application for a certificate of zoning compliance, the Zoning Administrator

shall cause the application and related submissions to be reviewed for
compliance with this code (and the Subdivision Ordinance as applicable) and
will inform the applicant whether the application has been granted or denied.

In any case where an application is granted, the Zoning Administrator will issue

a certificate of zoning compliance, which will state on its face, in bold type,

that “THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT SIGNIFY BUILDING CODE REVIEW OR

APPROVAL AND IS NOT AUTHORIZATION TO UNDERTAKE ANY WORK

WITHOUT SUCH REVIEW AND APPROVAL WHERE EITHER IS REQUIRED.

BEFORE ANY STRUCTURE TO WHICH THIS CERTIFICATE IS APPLICABLE MAY BE

OCCUPIED OR USED FOR ANY PURPOSE, A CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY MUST

BE OBTAINED.” In any case where an application is denied, the Zoning

Administrator will state specific reasons for the denial and cite the specific

provisions of this code upon which the denial is based. If relief from such

demand would be available pursuant to a companion application filed in
connection with the application for a certificate of zoning compliance, the

Zoning Administrator will inform the applicant and promptly process the

companion application. If the application is approved, the Zoning

Administrator will issue the requested certificate of zoning compliance in

accordance with the terms and conditions of such approval. If relief from the

Zoning Administrator’s denial of a certificate of zoning Compliance would be

available by variation, special use permit, or site plan review, but no

application has been filed, the Zoning Administrator will state this and refer
the applicant to the appropriate provisions of this code.

Contents of Certificate. Each certificate of zoning compliance issued pursuant to this
Section will state the specific use of the property for which it is issued; will identify
the specific plans; if any, pursuant to which it is issued; and will set forth any
conditions imposed in connection with any approval granted pursuant to this code.

50



g.

Filing of Certificates. Every certificate of zoning compliance issued pursuant to this
Section will be kept on file with the Zoning Administrator and will be a public record
open to inspection in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Freedom of
Information Act.

Effect of Issuance of Certificate of Zoning Compliance. The issuance of a certificate of
zoning compliance will not authorize the establishment, expansion, or extension of
any use nor the development, construction, relocation, alteration, or moving of
building or structure, but will merely authorize the preparation, filing, and processing
of applications for any additional permits and approvals that may be required by the
codes and ordinances of the village, including, but not limited to, a building Permit, a
certificate of occupancy, and subdivision approval.

Limitations on Certificates. Subject to an extension of time granted by the Zoning
Administrator pursuant to Section 3-2.2, a certificate of zoning compliance will
become null and void six (6) months after the date on which it was issued unless within
such period construction, repair, remodeling, structural alteration, or moving of a
structure is commenced or a use is commenced.

Void Certificates. Any certificate of zoning compliance issued in violation of the
provisions of this code, whether intentionally, negligently, or innocently, will be void
from issuance and will give rise to no rights whatsoever.

< s %

01 ~ 02 > 03

9. Certificate of Occupancy.

a.

Authority. The Zoning Administrator or the Building Inspector shall have authority to
issue certificates of occupancy; provided, however, that no certificate will be issued
except in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3-4.9 and the provisions of
the Village Municipal Code governing development, building, and related matters.

Purpose. For the purposes of this code, the certificate of occupancy provides a
procedure for the inspection of completed premises to ensure their compliance with
this code and approved plans prior to commencement of the use or occupancy of such

51



premises. The certificate of occupancy may also evidence compliance with other
provisions of the Village Municipal Code, as set forth in those provisions.

c. Certificate Required. Unless a certificate of occupancy has been obtained certifying
compliance with the provisions of this code:

No structure, or addition thereto, constructed, reconstructed, remodeled,
altered, or moved after the effective date of this code will be occupied or used
for any purpose;

No land vacant as of the effective date of this code will be used or occupied
for any purpose;

Except for changes involving only substitution of occupants in existing dwelling
units, no use or occupancy of any land or structure will be changed to any
other use or occupancy, whether or not construction, remodeling, alteration,
or moving is involved.

d. Procedure.

Application. Where no certificate of zoning compliance is required,
applications for certificates of occupancy will be filed in accordance with the
requirements of Section 3-4.9.c. Where a certificate of zoning compliance has
been issued, the application for that certificate will also be treated as the
application for a certificate of occupancy and will be processed as such at such
time as the applicant notifies the Zoning Administrator in writing that the
subject structure or use is ready for a certificate of occupancy in accordance
with the certificate of zoning compliance. In any case where the structure or
use involved has been constructed or established pursuant to any approval
granted pursuant to this code, the application will be accompanied by “as
built” plans depicting the structure or use as built and bearing the certificate
of a surveyor, engineer, architect, land planner, or owner-designer, as may be
appropriate, certifying that the structure or use as built conforms in all
respects to the approval granted.

Action on Application. Within ten (10) days following the receipt of a

completed application, the Zoning Administrator will cause the subject

structure or premises to be inspected and will take on the following actions
based on such inspection:

(2) If all work has been completed and the structure and use thereof are in full
and complete compliance with all applicable provisions of this Code, other
relevant codes and ordinances of the village, the applicant’s plans as
approved and any conditions attached to any approval issued pursuant to
this code, the Zoning Administrator will issue a Certificate of Occupancy;

(2) If, however, all work is not complete or is in any manner not in full
compliance with all applicable requirements, the Zoning Administrator will
deny the application and will inform the applicant in writing of the specific
deficiencies on which such denial is based, citing the particular provisions
of the codes and ordinances of the village, the particular items in the
applicant’s plans or the applicable special approval conditions with respect
to which compliance is lacking.

52



Contents of Certificates. In addition to the matters required to be contained in a
certificate of occupancy pursuant to other applicable provisions of the village
municipal code, each certificate of occupancy issued pursuant to this Subsection 3-
4.9.e will state the specific use of the subject property for which it is issued; will
identify the specific plans, if any, pursuant to which it is issued and will set forth any
conditions imposed in connection with any approval granted pursuant to this code.
Filing of Certificates. Every certificate of occupancy issued pursuant to this Subsection
3-4.9.f will be kept on file with the Zoning Administrator and will be a public record
open to inspection pursuant to the provisions of the lllinois Freedom of Information
Act.

Temporary Certificate of Occupancy. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3-4.9,
where construction, repair, remodeling, or structural alteration of a structure does
not require the vacating of the structure, or where parts of the structure are finished
and ready for occupancy before the completion of construction, repair, remodeling,
or structural alteration and are certified upon inspection to be safe for use or
occupancy and to be in full compliance with all applicable provisions of this code,
other relevant codes, and ordinances of the village, the applicant’s plans as approved
and any conditions attached to any approvals issued pursuant to this code with
respect to such structure or its premises, a temporary certificate of occupancy may
be issued for a period not to exceed six (6) months from its date, which temporary
certificate shall bear on its face, in bold type, a statement of its temporary nature;
provided, however, that no such temporary certificate will be issued pursuant to this
code unless the structure also qualifies for a temporary certificate of occupancy issued
pursuant to the village building code.

Certificate of Occupancy for Existing Uses. The Zoning Administrator may issue a
certificate of occupancy certifying the lawful existence and use of any existing
structure or use in the same manner, and subject to the same standards and
limitations, as authorized by this Subsection 3-4.9.h with respect to new structures
and uses. A certificate of occupancy will be prima facie evidence of the facts contained
in it with respect to any structure or use as of the date of its issue and remain effective
for that purpose for so long as neither the use or structure nor the applicable
provisions of this code are changed.

Certificate of Occupancy for Legal Nonconformities. The Zoning Administrator may
issue a Certificate of Occupancy certifying the lawful existence and use of any
nonconforming use, structure, lot, or sign in the same manner, and subject to the
same standards and limitations, as authorized by this Subsection 3-4.9.i with respect
to new structures and uses and subject also to the additional standards and limitations
set forth in Subsection 3-3.1.a of this code.

Void Certificates. Any certificate of occupancy issued in violation of the provisions of
this code, whether intentionally, negligently, or innocently, shall be void ab initio and
give rise to no rights whatsoever.

53



01 ~ 02 ~ 03

10. Enforcement and Penalties.

a. General Enforcement Authority and Duty. Upon finding the existence of any violation
of this code, the Zoning Administrator will have the authority and duty to take or
direct all actions necessary or appropriate to punish and abate such violation.

b. Civil and Administrative Enforcement.

i.  Stopand Cease-and-Desist Orders. Upon finding the existence of any violation
of this code, the Zoning Administrator will notify, in writing, the person
responsible for the violation, indicating the nature of the violation and
ordering the action necessary to correct it; specifically, the Zoning
Administrator will order the discontinuance of any illegal use of land or
structures; the removal of illegal structures, additions or alterations; and the
discontinuance of illegal work being done.

ii. Legal Actions. In the enforcement of this code, the Zoning Administrator will
exercise all the powers authorized by the statutes of the state of lllinois and
the codes and ordinances of the village to ensure compliance with, or to
prevent or abate any violation of, the provisions of this code, and in particular,
will, where necessary or appropriate, institute or cause to be instituted by the
village attorney in the name of the Village of Beecher any and all actions, legal
or equitable, including appeals, that may be required for the enforcement of
this code.

iii. Abatement; Liens. Where authorized by state statute, the Zoning
Administrator may order any work necessary to abate any violation of this
code and will assess the cost of such work to the property owner. Upon the
failure of the owner to pay such cost, the Zoning Administrator will file a lien
for the costs, and for all costs of collection, against the property in question.

iv.  Revocation of Permits. The violation of any provision of this code, or of any
permit or approval granted pursuant to it, or of any condition imposed

54



pursuant to it will be grounds for the revocation of any approval granted
pursuant to this code and affecting the property involved in the violation. The
Zoning Administrator may recommend, and the Village Board may order such
revocation; provided, however, where the original approval was granted
following a public hearing required pursuant to this code, the revocation will
be preceded by a public hearing before the Village Board.

v.  Fines. In the enforcement of this code, the Zoning Administrator will, where
necessary and appropriate, order the issuance and enforcement of citations
to recover fines and penalties for the violation of this code as authorized by
state law and this code.

c. Penalties. Any person who violates, disobeys, omits, neglects, or refuses to comply
with, or who resists enforcement of, any provision of this code will be subject to a fine
of not less than one hundred (100) dollars nor more than seven hundred fifty (750)
dollars for each offense. Each day violation continues to exist will constitute a
separate offense.

d. Private Remedies Preserved. Nothing in this Part shall be interpreted to prevent any
person entitled to relief in law or equity by reason of a violation of the provisions of
this Code from bringing an appropriate action to secure such relief.

3-5-99: RESERVED.

55



4-2

SECTION 4 GENERAL PROVISIONS

INTERPRETATIONS.

Minimum Requirement. The provisions herein shall be held to be the minimum
requirements for the promotion of public health, morals, and welfare.

Relationship with Other Laws. Where the conditions imposed by any provision herein
upon the use of land or buildings or upon the bulk of buildings are either more restrictive
or less restrictive than comparable conditions imposed by any other provision herein or
any other law, ordinance, resolution, rule, or regulations of any kind, the regulations
which are more restrictive (or which impose higher standards or requirements) shall
govern.

Effect of Existing Agreement. The ordinance is not intended to abrogate any easement,
covenant, or any other private agreement, provided that where the regulations of the
Ordinance are more restrictive (or impose higher standards or requirements) than such
easements, covenants, or other private agreements, the requirements herein shall
govern.

SEPARABILITY.

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Village of Beecher that the several provisions of
this Zoning Ordinance are separable in accordance with the following:

4-3

If any court of competent jurisdiction shall adjudge any provision of this Ordinance to be
invalid, such judgment shall not affect any other provisions not specifically included in
said judgment; and

If any court of competent jurisdiction shall adjudge invalid the application of any provision
of this Ordinance to a particular property, building, or other structure such judgment shall
not affect the application of said provision to any property, building, or structure, not
specifically included in said judgment.

REPEAL.

Ordinance No. 1046 in its entirety, relating to the zoning of land is hereby repealed and all other
Ordinances or parts of Ordinances of the Village of Beecher unconstitutional or conflicting with
this Ordinance, to the extent of the inconsistency only, are hereby repealed.

4-4

USE RESTRICTIONS.

The following use restrictions and regulations shall apply:

1. Principal Uses. Only those principal uses specified for a district (Section 6-6 — District Use

Table) or on a Planned Unit Development (PUD) plat (Subsection 3-4.6 — Planned
Developments), their essential services, and those uses specified in this Section, shall be
permitted in that district.

Accessory Uses and Structures. Accessory uses and structures are permitted in any zoning
district (Section 4-12 — Accessory Buildings, Structures, and Uses of Land), but not until
their principal structure is present and/or under construction.

3. Uses by Special Permit (Special Uses). Special Uses and their accessory uses are permitted

56



4-5

in all zoning districts after review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and Village
Board, according to the procedure set forth in (Subsection 3-4.5 — Special Uses).
Unclassified or unspecified uses. In case of uncertainty where the Zoning Administrator is
unable to determine literally whether a use is permitted as a principal or accessory use,
he/she shall consult the Planning and Zoning Commission for an interpretation.
Temporary Uses. Temporary uses, such as real estate field offices or shelters for materials
and equipment being used in the construction of a permanent structure, may be
permitted by the Zoning Administrator through the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy
(Subsection 3-4.9 — Certificates of Occupancy) for a period not to exceed six (6) months.
This temporary certificate may be renewed semiannually but in no case shall the effective
period of the certificate exceed two (2) years.

Performance Standards. Performance standards listed in (Section 12 — Performance
Standards) of the Zoning Ordinance shall apply to all uses in all zoning districts unless
specifically waived by the Village Board after consulting with the Planning and Zoning
Commission.

SCOPE OF REGULATIONS.

Change in Buildings, Structures, or Uses. Except as may otherwise be provided, all
buildings erected hereafter, all uses of land or buildings established hereafter, all
structural alterations or relocations of existing buildings occurring hereafter, and all
enlargements of or additions to existing uses occurring hereafter, shall be subject to all
regulations herein which are applicable to the zoning district in which such buildings, uses
or land shall be located.

Non-Conforming Buildings, Structures, and Uses. Any lawful building, structure, or use
existing at the time of the enactment of the Zoning Ordinance may be continued, even
though such building, structure, or use does not conform to the provisions herein for the
district in which it is located, and whenever a district shall be changed hereafter, the then
existing lawful use may be continued, subject to the provisions in Section 5 —
Nonconforming Uses).

Building or Structure. Where the word “building” is used in this Ordinance, it shall also
include structure. See Section 14 — Definitions.

Building Permits. Where a building permit for construction of a building or structure or
part thereof has been issued in accordance with law prior to the effective date of the
Ordinance, and provided that construction is begun within ninety (90) days of such
effective date and diligently prosecuted to completion, said building or structure may be
completed in accordance with the approved plans on the basis of which the building
permit was issued, and further may, upon completion be occupied under a Certificate of
Occupancy by the use for which originally designated subject thereafter to the provisions
of Subsection 3-4.9 — Certificates of Occupancy.

Lots of Record. A lot of record at the time of the adoption of this Ordinance in a residence
district which is unable to meet the requirements of this Ordinance as to area, lot width,
and yard requirements may be used for a single-family detached dwelling, provided it
shall meet all the other requirements of this Ordinance. However, when two (2) or more
parcels of land, each of which lacks adequate area and dimensions to qualify for a

57



4-6

permitted use under the requirements of the use district in which they are located, are
contiguous and are held in one ownership, at the time of or subsequent to the adoption
of this amendment, they shall be used as one zoning lot for such use.

Construction in Process. Where construction of a building or structure has begun prior to
the effective date of this Ordinance and is being diligently prosecuted to completion, said
building or structure may be completed in accordance with the approved plans on the
basis of which the building permit was issued, and further may upon completion be
occupied under a certificate of occupancy subject to the provisions herein set forth in
Section 5 — Nonconforming Uses.

Consultants. The Planning and Zoning Commission and the Village Board may utilize the
services of professional consultants for research, investigation, and professional opinion,
for assistance in arriving at recommendations or decisions. The applicant whose request
to either the Planning and Zoning Commission, or Village Board, requires the use of such
professional services, shall reimburse the Village the reasonable cost it incurred for the
services rendered by its consultants, within ten (10) days after the submission of the bill
by the Village. The consultants shall bill for their services at the same hourly rate which
they normally charge municipal clients. The Village consultants shall include, but not be
limited to, the persons who provide the Village with advice in the field of engineering, law,
planning, traffic, design, and finance.

USE AND BULK REGULATIONS.

Control Over Use. No building, structure, or land shall hereafter be used or occupied and
no building or part thereof, or other structure shall be erected, raised, moved,
reconstructed, extended, enlarged, or altered except in conformity with the regulations
herein specified for the district in which it is located, except as otherwise provided by law,
as authorized by a pre-existing Section of this Zoning Ordinance.

Control Over Bulk. All new buildings and structures shall conform to the building
regulations established herein for the zoning district in which each building shall be
located, except that chimneys, cooling towers, elevator bulkheads, fire towers, stacks,
and necessary mechanical appurtenances shall be permitted to exceed the maximum
height provisions when erected in accordance with all other Ordinances of the Village of
Beecher.

Control Over Residences. All buildings intended for human occupancy within the Village
of Beecher shall have potable water and sanitary sewer service provided by the Village
unless otherwise granted by the Village under Chapter 5 in the Code of Ordinances.

LOT COVERAGE.

Maintenance of Yards, Courts, and Other Open Spaces. The maintenance of yards, courts,
and other open spaces and minimum lot area legally required for a building shall be a
continuing obligation of the owner of such building or of the property on which it is
located, as long as the building is in existence. Furthermore, no legally required yards,
courts, or other open space or minimum lot area allocated to any building, shall by virtue
of change of ownership or for any reason be used to satisfy yard, court, or other open
space, or minimum lot area requirements for any other building.

58



10.

11.

Division of Zoning Lots. No improved zoning lot shall hereafter be divided into two (2) or
more zoning lots unless all improved zoning lots resulting from each subdivision shall
conform with all the applicable bulk regulations of the zoning district in which the
property is located.

Access Across Residential Property. No land which is located in a Residential District shall
be used for vehicular access purposes to any lot which is located in a Commercial or
Industrial District, or used for any purpose not permitted in a Residential District, except
in the case of an approved Special Use or Planned Development.

Location of Required Open Space. All yards, courts, and other open spaces allocated to a
building or dwelling group shall be located on the same zoning lot as such building or
dwelling group.

Required Yards for Existing Buildings. No yards now or hereafter provided for a building
existing on the effective date of the Zoning Ordinance shall subsequently be reduced
below or further reduced below if already less than the minimum yard requirements of
the Zoning Ordinance for equivalent new construction.

Front Yard Setback and Corner Side Yard. On streets where a front yard and/or corner side
yard setback has been maintained for buildings existing on lots or tracts having a frontage
of fifty (50) percent or more of the total frontage on one (1) side of that portion of any
street lying between two (2) intersecting streets, there shall be maintained a front yard
setback of not less than the average setback of the aforementioned existing buildings or
thirty (30) feet, whichever is smaller.

Any changes in the front yard setback and/or corner side yard requirement shall be
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Commission for its review and recommendation,
and for the consideration for approval by the Village Board.

Minimum Space Between Detached Buildings. The minimum space between detached
buildings or structures shall be not less than the required width of the combined side
yards for any new developments, alterations, or additions approved after the effective
date of this Zoning Ordinance.

One Principal Building, Structure and Use. Every building hereafter erected or structurally
altered shall be located on a zoning lot as herein defined and in no case shall there be
more than one principal building, structure, or use on a zoning lot except in a planned
development, as a Special Use where permitted as such, or as otherwise provided in this
Zoning Ordinance.

Lot Area and Lot Width. No zoning lot containing a building, structure, or use shall
hereafter be divided in order to secure one (1) or more additional lots for transfer of
Ownership and establishment of a principal use thereon, unless each lot, including also
the lot containing the building, structure or use, resulting from such division, shall have
the minimum lot area and lot width as required in this Zoning Ordinance for the district
in which the lot is located.

Lots in Single Ownership. Any single zoning lot or parcel of land, held in one ownership
which was of record at the time of adoption of this Zoning Ordinance, that does not meet
the requirements for minimum lot width and area, may be utilized for a permitted use,
provided that the yards are fifty (50) feet at the building line with a total area of seven
thousand two hundred (7,200) square feet, whichever is greater. Lot coverage shall not

59



4-8

4-9

12.

13.

exceed forty (40) percent with a minimum of five (5) feet for side yard setbacks and forty

(40) feet for rear yards. Front yards shall be at the established building line.

Buildings and structures Constructed on a Zoning Lot. Every building or structure shall be

constructed or erected upon a Zoning lot or parcel of land which abuts a public street

unless a permanent easement of access to a public street is of record prior to the
application for a building permit.

Unique Land Planning Designs. Where unique land planning designs are employed in a

subdivision or planned development to conserve the natural character of the land or to

create a functional or compatible arrangement of buildings, structures, or uses, a lot
which does not abut upon a public or private street may be permitted provided that:

a. Adequate provision is made for free access to the lot for the property owner, or in the
case of a non-residential lot, for those persons who would normally require access to
the lot.

b. Adequate provision is made for the unobstructed access of fire-fighting equipment,
police protection, rubbish collection, and other governmental services.

c. Adequate provision is made for the extension and maintenance of public and private
utility services.

d. The arrangement will not contribute toward congestion in nearby streets as a result
of delivery services, lack of guest parking, or other reasons.

VISION CLEARANCE TRIANGLE.
All corner lots shall provide for a clear sight distance (traffic view obstruction triangle),
not less than two and one-half (2%) feet in
height above the elevation at the center line of
the traveled way, free from all buildings,
structures, plant materials, play equipment, or
parking, loading, or storage uses in accordance
with the following specifications:

a. All Residence Districts, a sight distance of
not less than twenty-five (25) feet
measured along the intersecting street
right-of-way line bordering corner lots.

b. All Business or Industrial Districts, a sight
distance of not less than twenty-five (25)
feet measured along the intersecting
street right-of-way line bordering corner lots except as herein provided.

HEIGHT LIMITATIONS.

No building shall be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, or structurally altered
to exceed the height limit hereinafter established for the district in which the building is
located, except that penthouses or roof structures for the housing of elevators, stairways,
tanks, ventilating fans, or similar equipment required to operate and maintain the
building, and fire or parapet walls, sky lights, towers, steeples state lofts and screens,
flagpoles, chimneys, smokestacks, individual domestic radio, television aerials and

60



4-10

wireless masts, water tanks, or similar structures may be erected above the height limits
when recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the Village
Board. No such structure may be erected to exceed by more than fifteen (15) feet the
height limits of the district in which it is located; nor shall such structure have a total area
greater than twenty-five (25) percent of the roof area of the building; nor shall such
structure be used for any residential, commercial, or industrial purpose other than a use
incidental to the main use of the building.

Public, semi-public hospitals, institutions, schools, or public utility and service buildings,
when permitted in a zoning district, may be erected to a height not exceeding thirty-five
(35) feet without a special use permit, provided said specified buildings shall be set back
from the front, rear, and side lot lines on the ratio of two (2) feet for every one (1) foot of
building height greater than forty (40) feet; provided, however, that said specified
requirements shall apply in addition to the other requirements for building line setbacks
and for rear and side yards specifically set forth in this Zoning Ordinance.

REQUIRED SETBACKS.

Setback lines shall be maintained on all lots that abut streets and thoroughfares. The minimum
setback on lots abutting a street or thoroughfare shall be the distance required for a front yard,
or side yard, adjoining a street, in the district where such lots are located, measured from the
existing right-of-way line of the street or thoroughfare, or from the proposed right-of-way line as
designated onthe Comprehensive Land-Use Transportation Plan (map) and as duly established by
other Ordinances or as established by County or State highway authorities — whichever has the
greatest right-of-way width requirements.

4-11

1.

REQUIRED YARDS.

All yards and other open spaces as required by this Zoning Ordinance shall be located on
the same zoning lot as the principal building or use. No legally required yard, open space,
or lot area for any use or building shall be used to satisfy yard, open space, or lot area
requirements for any other structure or use.

On a corner lot, the front lot line shall be the lot line having the shortest dimension along
the street right-of-way line. The required front yard setback on corner lots shall apply to
each side of the lot facing a street unless otherwise allowed as part of this Zoning
Ordinance.

No yards allocated to a building or use existing on the effective date of this Zoning
Ordinance shall be subsequently reduced or further reduced below the vyard
requirements of this Zoning Ordinance, except a yard adjoining a street may be reduced
in depth in the event and to the extent the right-of-way width, of such street adjoining
such yard is subsequently increased.

Where fifty (50) percent or more of the frontage on one side of a street between two (2)
intersecting streets is developed with buildings that have observed, within a variation of
five (5) feet or less, a front yard greater in depth than required herein, new buildings shall
not be erected closer to the street than the average front yard so established by the
existing buildings.

61



4-12 PERMITTED OBSTRUCTIONS IN REQUIRED YARDS.

The following accessory buildings, structures, and uses are permitted and shall not be considered
to be obstructions when located in the required yards specified. (A “P” denotes that the
obstruction is permitted, and an “X” denotes that the obstruction is not permitted).

Table 4-1

Air Co'ndltlonmg p p p p
(window)
Air Conditioning (ground) X P X P
Antennas X P P P
Arbors/Trellises P P P P
Awnings P P P P
Balconies P P P P
Bay Windows P P P P
Canopies (free standing) X X X P
Carports X P X X
Chimneys P P P P
Decks X P P P
Dog Run X P X P
Eaves P P P P
Flagpoles P P P P
Garages P P P P
Gardens P P P P
Generators X P X P
Greenhouse X P X P
Gutters P P P P
Loading X X P P
Patios P P P P
Porches P P P P
Sheds X X X P
Stairways P P P P
Swimming Pools X X X P
Walls P P P P
So';:)i?f;iﬁ;::;ims Permitted on rooftop only
Other X | X | X | P

The Zoning Administrator shall have the authority to grant an Administrative Variance (Section
3-4.3.f) to allow prohibited obstructions in required yards.

62



4-13 BUILDING AND STRUCTURE GRADES.

All buildings and structures shall be located at such an elevation that a sloping grade shall be
maintained to cause the flow of surface water to run away from the walls of the building or
structure. Yards shall be graded in such manner as will prevent the accumulation of surface water
onthe lot and not increase the natural run-off of surface water onto adjacent properties. All yards
shall have a minimum of one (1) percent slope from the foundation to the property line.

4-14 USES NOT SPECIFICALLY PERMITTED IN DISTRICTS.

When a use is not specifically listed in the Sections devoted to Permitted Uses, it shall be assumed
that such uses are hereby expressly prohibited, unless recommended by the Planning and Zoning
Commission, and approved by the Village Board, that said use is similar to and not more
objectionable than uses listed and such uses may then be permitted.

4-15 EXEMPTIONS.

The regulations of this Ordinance do not specify or regulate the type or location of poles, towers,
wires, cables, conduits, vaults, laterals, pipes, mains, valves, and other similar distributing
equipment; regulator and compressor stations, and the underground storage of gas for a public
utility or a natural gas company including facilities and exploratory and operating wells; or a
public utility or natural gas company for telephone or other communications, electric power, gas,
water and sewer lines, provided that installation shall conform with rules and regulations of the
applicable administrative authorities; nor the location, use or occupancy of publicly-owned land,
structures or installations of any kind whatsoever.

4-16 TEMPORARY USES.

Temporary uses may be permitted in any zoning district, provided such use will not create a
nuisance and is approved by the Village Board. Each temporary use permit shall specify the
location, time period such permit shall be valid, and any other terms or conditions that the Village
Board deems necessary in granting the approval.

4-17 LOT AREA AND DIMENSION.

1. Contiguous Parcels. When two (2) or more parcels of land, each of which lacks adequate
area and dimension to qualify for a permitted use under the requirements of the use
district in which they are located and contiguous and are held in one (1) ownership, they
shall be used as one (1) zoning lot for such use.

2. Lots or Parcels of Land of Record. Any single lot or parcel of land, held in one (1)
ownership, which was of record at the time of adoption of the Ordinance that does not
meet the requirements for minimum lot width and area may be utilized for a permitted
use, provided that the yards are fifty (50) feet at the building line with a total area of
seven thousand two hundred (7,200) square feet, whichever is greater.

3. Lot coverage shall not exceed forty (40) percent with a minimum of five (5) feet for side
yard setbacks and forty (40) feet for rear yards. Front yards shall be at the established
building line.

4-18 ACCESS TO PUBLIC STREETS.

63



Except as otherwise provided for herein, every building shall be constructed or erected upon a
lot or parcel of land which abuts a public street, unless a permanent easement of access to a
public street was of record prior to the adoption of the Zoning Ordinance. Flag lots (Section 14 —
Definitions) shall not be permitted.

4-19 NUMBER OF BUILDINGS ON A ZONING LOT.

Except in the case of a Planned Development (Subsection 3-4.6) or as a Special Use (Subsection
3-4.5) where permitted as such, not more than one (1) principal detached building shall be
located on a zoning lot, nor shall a principal detached building be located on the same zoning lot
with any other principal building.

4-20 TWO USES ON A ZONING LOT.
Where two (2) or more Permitted or Special Uses, each requiring a minimum lot area, are
provided on the same zoning lot, the required lot area for such uses shall be the sum (total) of the
areas required for each individual use.

4-21 REZONING OF PUBLIC AND SEMI-PUBLIC AREAS.

An area indicated on the zoning map as a public park, recreation area, public school site,
cemetery, or other similar open space, shall not be used for any other purposes than that which
it is zoned and planned for, and when the use of the area is discontinued, it shall be rezoned to
the most restrictive adjoining district until appropriate zoning authorized by the Village Board.

4-22 ACCESSORY BUILDING, STRUCTURES AND USES.

1. Accessory uses shall be compatible with the principal use and shall not be established
prior to the establishment of the principal use, and shall not include the keeping,
propagation, or culture of pigeons, poultry, or livestock, whether or not for profit. Private
swimming pools shall be a permitted accessory use in any Residence District, provided it
conforms to regulations of this Ordinance and other applicable ordinances of the Village
of Beecher.

2. No accessory building, unless it is structurally a part of the principal building, and unless
it conforms with requirements of accessory building for Special Uses shall be erected or
altered, nor moved to a location within ten (10) feet of the nearest wall of the principal
building, nor within the required area for front or side yard of the lot. An accessory
building in a rear yard shall be not less than five (5) feet from any property line and shall
not be constructed upon any recorded easement.

3. No accessory building shall encroach upon the side yard of a corner lot which is adjacent
to the street, nor upon that side yard of a reversed corner lot which is adjacent to the
street, nor upon the rear yard of a through lot, unless screened by a privacy fence (Section
4-28). If such fence is removed, it must be replaced, or the accessory building removed,
within ninety (90) days.

4. No accessory building shall have more than one (1) story, nor exceed eighteen (18) feet
in height, unless otherwise permitted and approved as accessory to business and
manufacturing uses, or to authorized Special Uses, unless otherwise approved by the
Village Board.

64



5. Towers shall be deemed accessory structures if the following criteria are met:

a. That no part of any tower shall project through a horizontal plane more than fifteen
(15) feet above the maximum building height for the Zoning District in which it is
located, except that if the tower is designed to extend and retract, then it may be
extended temporarily beyond that maximum horizontal plane but only while receiving
or transmitting signals.

b. The setback for the base of any tower shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet from all
property lines and any public easements for towers up to thirty (30) feet in height. For
towers over thirty (30) feet in height, the required setback shall be increased by one
(1) foot for every two (2) feet of increased tower height. All elements of the tower,
including guy-wire posts, shall be setback a minimum of ten (10) feet from any public
easements.

c. Alltowers shall be in compliance with all adopted codes and ordinances of the Village
(Section 13-8 — Communication and Other Towers) as well as any current applicable
rules and regulations of the FCC and/or FAA and the Electronic Industries Association
Manual on Structural Standards for Steel Antenna Towers and Antenna Supporting
Structures, document RS-222C (Revision of RS-222B) dated March 1976, or as
amended, and any and all building codes and ordinances of the Village of Beecher.

4-23 TEMPORARY BUILDINGS.

1. A temporary real estate office may be allowed in conjunction with a new housing
development, limited to the selling or renting of new units in such development, but in
no case to be in operation for more than one (1) year following completion of
construction of said housing development, unless approval is obtained from the Village
Board.

2. Temporary buildings for construction purposes may be allowed in any zoned district for a
period not to exceed two (2) years or until the designated time period, activity, to use for
which the temporary structure was erected has ceased or unless approval to extend the
time period is obtained from the Village Board.

4-24 PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.

The Performance Standards shall apply to all Districts as provided in Section 12 — Performance
Standards.

4-25 EXISTING SPECIAL USES.

Where a use is classified as a Special Use (Section 3-4.5 — Special Uses) and exists as a permitted
use at the date of the adoption of this Ordinance, it shall be considered a legal special use, without
further action by the Village Board, the Zoning Administrator, or the Planning and Zoning
Commission.

4-26

LANDSCAPING.

1. When a landscape plan is required by this Zoning Ordinance, the Landscape plan shall

include:
a. Title block including the name of the plan, designer's name, scale of the plan,

65



oo o

>@ o

north point, and date of the plan;

List all types and varieties of plant material to be installed;

Number (quantity) of each type of plant material to be installed;

Key numbers on the landscape plan to identify where each type of plant material
is to be installed;

Contouring, shaping, and preparation of landscape areas;

Landscape plans shall be required for all subdivisions in all districts;

Use and placement of non-plant elements within the area to be landscaped;

A complete cost estimate for landscape construction and installation from
landscape architect and/or contractor; and

The landscape plan shall also incorporate existing significant trees, three (3)
inches in caliper or larger and other existing natural vegetation which is to be
preserved on the site.

2. The minimum landscape requirements may include natural fences.

3. Landscape materials shall be selected and sited to produce a hardy and drought- resistant
landscape area. Selection shall include: consideration of soil type and depth; spacing for
opacity; exposure to sun, wind, and water; slope and contours of the site; building walls,
overhangs, and compatibility with existing native vegetation preserved on site.

4. Screening and Buffering. Screening shall be used to reduce or eliminate the visual impacts
of the following:

a.

b.
C.
d

]

Service areas and facilities, including trash containers and loading areas;
Storage areas;

Off-street parking;

At and above grade electrical and mechanical equipment such as transformers,
heat pumps, and air conditioners; and

Other areas or uses as required by this Ordinance.

Screening may be accomplished by sight-obscuring plant materials (generally
evergreens), earth berms, walls, fences, or other design techniques. Buffering
shall be used to mitigate adverse visual impacts, dust, noise, or pollution and
provide compatibility between dissimilar adjoining uses. Special consideration
will be given to buffering and screening between residence and business and/or
industrial uses in visually sensitive areas.

5. Planting and Maintenance:

a.

No sight-obscuring plant material exceeding three (3) feet in height, at maturity
above street grade, shall be located within a triangular area measured twenty-
five (25) feet from the intersections of any two (2) street right-of-way lines in
compliance with Section 4-8 of this Zoning Ordinance. Existing trees located
within the twenty-five (25) foot triangular area of any such intersections shall be
maintained to allow eight (8) feet of vision clearance below the lowest hanging
branches in areas facilitating vehicular traffic.

Plant material, including deciduous and evergreen trees, shall not cause a hazard.
Landscape plant material overhanging walks, pedestrian paths, and seating areas
shall be pruned to a minimum height of eight (8) feet and to a minimum height
of fifteen (15) feet over streets and vehicular traffic areas.

66



Landscape plant materials shall be selected which do not generally interfere with
utilities above or below ground level at maturity.

Landscape plant materials shall be installed in accordance with current standards
of the American Association of Nurserymen.

Landscape plant materials shall be properly guyed and staked in accordance with
current industry standards as necessary. Stakes and guy wires shall not interfere
with vehicular or pedestrian traffic.

Plant materials shall be hardy and have vigorous root systems, and be free from
defects, diseases and infections.

Deciduous trees shall be fully branched, and have a minimum caliper of three (3)
inches (measured six (6) inches above ground level) and a minimum height of
fourteen (14) feet at the time of planting.

Evergreen trees shall be a minimum of five (5) feet in height, fully branched.
Shrubs shall be supplied in @ minimum of eight (8)-inch burlap balls or one (1)
gallon containers with a minimum height spread of twelve (12) to eighteen (18)
inches.

Ground cover plants shall be planted so that an affective covering is obtained
within three (3) growing seasons.

Appropriate methods of care and maintenance of landscape plant materials shall
be provided by the owner of the property.

Landscape plant materials shall be protected from damage due to heavy foot
traffic or vehicular traffic by protective tree grates, pavers, or other suitable
methods, where appropriate.

4-27 RECOMMENDED PLANT VARIETIES.

The Village encourages the use of native plant species indigenous to Beecher and the surrounding
areas. The following varieties of plants, while not required, are recommended for use in areas
covered by this Section.

Recommended Canopy Trees for Parkway Plantings

For use where overhead wires do not exist minimum mature height of 30 feet or more.

Botanical Name Common Name
Acer x freemanii Freeman Maple
Acer platanoides cultivars Norway Maple
Acer rubrum 'Red Sunset' Red Sunset Red Maple
Acer saccharum Sugar Maple
Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple
Acer saccharum 'Wright Brothers' Wright Brothers Sugar Maple

67




Recommended Canopy Trees for Parkway Plantings

For use where overhead wires do not exist minimum mature height of 30 feet or more.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Aesculus hippocastanum

Common Horsechestnut

Carya ovata

Shagbark Hickory

Celtis occidentalis

Common Hackberry

Celtis occidentalis 'Prairie Pride'

Prairie Pride Hackberry

Corylus colurna

Turkish Filbert

Ginkgo biloba (male only)

Ginkgo

Ginkgo biloba 'Autumn Gold'

Autumn Gold Ginkgo

Ginkgo biloba 'Fairmount’

Fairmount Ginkgo

Ginkgo biloba 'Lakeview'

Lakeview Ginkgo

Ginkgo biloba 'Princeton Sentry'

Princeton Sentry Ginkgo

Gleditsia triancanthos inermis 'Greenglory'

Greenglory Honeylocust

Gleditsia triancanthos inermis 'Halka'

Halka Honeylocust

Gleditsia triancanthos inermis 'Shademaster"

Shademaster Honeylocust

Gleditsia triancanthos inermis 'Skyline'

Skyline Honeylocust

Gymnocladus dioica

Kentucky Coffeetree

Jugians nigra

Black Walnut

Liqguidambar styraciflua

Sweetgum

Liriodendron tulipifera

Tulip Tree, Yellow Poplar

Ostyra virginiana

I[ronwood

Phellodendron amurense

Amur Corktree

Quercus alba

White Oak

Quercus bicolor

Swamp White Oak

Quercus imbricaria

Shingle Oak

Quercus macrocarpa

Bur Oak

Quercus muehlenbergii

Chinquapin Oak

68




For use where overhead wires do not exist minimum mature height of 30 feet or more.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Quercus robur English Oak
Quercus rubrum Red Oak
Quercus imbricaria Shingle Oak

Tilia americana

American Linden

Tilia americana 'Fastigiata'

Pyramidal American Linden

Tilia americana 'Redmond'

Redmond American Linden

Tilia cordata 'Chancellor’

Chancellor Linden

Tilia cordata 'Glenleven'

Glenleven Linden

For use where overhead wires exist 15-30 feet maximum mature height.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Acer Ginnala

Amur Maple

Amelanchier canadensis

Serviceberry

Carpinus carolinia

Ironwood (American Hornbeam)

Cercis candensis

Redbud

Cornus mas

Corneliancherry Dogwood

Cornusmas alternifolia

Pagoda Dogwood

Crataegus phaenopyrum

Washington Hawthorn

Crataegus crus-galli

Cockspur Hawthorn

Hammamelis virginiana

Witch Hazel

Malus sp.

Flowering Crab Sp.

Ostrya virginiana

Ironwood

Syringa reticulati clutivar

Japanese Tree lilac "lvory Silk"

Viburnum lentago

Nannyberry

Viburnum prunifolium

Blackhaw Viburnum

69




For use in non-vehicular use areas only minimum mature height 30 feet or more.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Acer platanoides

Norway maple

Acer saccharinum Silver maple

Acer saccharum Sugar maple
Betula nigra River birch

Betula papyrifera Paper Birch
Cercidiphyllum japonicum Katsuratree

Fagus grandifolia

American Beech

Fagus sylvatica

European Beech

Ostyra virginiana Ironwood
Quercus alba White Oak
Quercus Rubra Red Oak

Tillia Americana

American Linden

For use in property line buffers or site element screens minimum height 20 feet.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Abies concolor

White Fir

Picea abies Norway Spruce
Picea glauca White Spruce
Picea glauca Black Hills Spruce

Picea omorika

Siberian Spruce

Picea pungens

Colorado Spruce and cultivars

Pinus mugo

Swiss Mountain Pine, Mugo Pine

Pinus nigra

Austrian Pine

Pinus stobus

White Pine

70




For use in property line buffers or site element screens minimum height 20 feet.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Pinus sylvestris

Scots Pine, Scotch Pine

Pseudotsuga menziessii

Douglas Fir

For use in property line buffers or site element screens minimum mature height 15 feet or
more.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Cornus racemosa

Gray Dogwood

Cornus amomum

Silky Dogwood

Cornus mas

Corneliancherry Dogwood

Euonymous alatus

Burning Bush

Euonymus europaeus

European Euonymus

Lindera benzoin

Spicebush

Lonicera fragrantissima

Winter Honeysuckle

Rhus glabra

Smooth Sumac

Rhus typhina

Staghorn Sumac

Syringa reticulata

Japanese Tree Lilac

Viburnum dentatum

Arrowwood Viburnum

Viburnum lantana

Wayfaringtree Viburnum

Viburnum lentago

Nanyberry Viburnum

Viburnum opulus

European Cranberrybush

Viburnum prunifolium

Blackhaw Viburnum

Viburnum trilobum

American Cranberrybush

71



(5) Buffer Yard Plantings—Recommended Shrub Plantings

For use in property line buffers or site element screens maximum mature height 15 feet or

less.

Botanical Name

Common Name

Aronia melanocarpa

Black Chokeberry

Berberis thunbergii

Japanese Barberry

Buxus microphylla koreana

Korean Boxwood

Cornus Sericea

Redosier Dogwood

Cotoneaster muliflorus

Many-Flowered Cotoneaster

Euonymus fortuneii 'Sarxoxie'

Sarcoxie Wintercreeper

Forsythia 'Bonxensis'

Bronx Forsythia

Forsythia x intermeiad

Border Forsythia

llex verticilata

Winterberry

llex X meservae

Blue Holly

Juniperus chinensis

Chinese Junipers

Juniperus horizontalis

Dwarf Creeping Juniper

Ligustrum x vicaryi

Golden Vicary Privet

Potentilla fruticosa

Potentilla

Rhus aromatica 'Gro-Low'

Grow Low Sumac

Ribes Alpinum

Alpine Currant

Sambucus canadensis

Elderberry

Spirea japonica

Japanese Spirea

Spirea x bumalda

Bumald Spirea

Syringa meyeri

Meyer's Lilac

Syringa patula 'Ms. Kim'

Miss Kim Korean Lilac

Taxus cuspidata

Japanese Yew

Taxus x media 'Tauntonii'

Taunton Yew

Viburnum carlesii '‘Compacta’

Dwarf Koreanspice Viburnum

Viburnum trilobum '‘Compactum’

Compact American Cranberrybush

72




(5) Buffer Yard Plantings—Recommended Shrub Plantings
For use in property line buffers or site element screens maximum mature height 15 feet or
less.
Botanical Name Common Name
Viburnum trilobum 'Hahs' Hahs American Cranberrybush
(6) Buffer Yard Plantings—Recommended Shrub Plantings
For use in property line buffers or site element screens clipped hedges, 3-5 feet height.
Botanical Name Common Name
Berberis thunbergii Japanese Barberry
Cotoneaster acutifolius Peking Cotoneaster
Euonymus alatus Winged Euonymus
Euonymus alatus compactus Dwarf winged Euonyums
Forsythia sp Forsythia
Juniperus virginiana Eastern Red Cedar
Ligustrum lucidum Privet
Physocarpus opulifolius Common Ninebark
Ribes alpinum Alpine Currant
Spirea prunifolia Bridalwreath Spirea
Syringa meyeri Meyer's Lilac
Syringa patula 'Ms. Kim' Miss Kim Korean Lilac
Taxus x media Anglojap Yew
Thuja occidentalis 'Technyi' Mission Arborvitae
Viburnum dentatum Arrowwood Viburnum
Viburnum trilobum 'Compactum’ Compact American Cranberrybush

4-28 FENCES.
The following requirements for fences shall apply to all Zoning Districts.
1. General Requirements.
a. Fences, walls, or shrubbery shall not be erected, constructed, or maintained in conflict
with the corner lot vision clearance specification established in Section 4.8 — Vision

73



Triangle of this Ordinance.

No fence or shrubbery may be erected, constructed, or maintained to impede the
natural storm water runoff on any portion of that lot or any adjoining lot.

Where there is a change in grade between adjoining lots, the height of fences shall be
measured from the average grade within six (6) feet on either side of the line where
the fence is to be erected. If the grade change is greater than one (1) foot within this
(12) twelve-foot area, it will be necessary to provide a detail showing the cross section
of the terrain at the fence line. This detail shall be reviewed by the Building Inspector
to determine the average grade height.

Interior Lots — Fences shall not be allowed or installed in front yards or in side yards
of the lot beyond the middle point of the side yard to the front of the lot. The middle
point of the side yard is defined as the middle of the main building which is one-half
(%) of the distance from the rear of the main building foundation line to the front of
the main building foundation line of the residence constructed of the lot. Open
porches and stairs are not considered when determining the main building line.
Corner Lots — Fences shall be permitted on the rear and side yards provided that
fences shall not be permitted in the front yards (yards fronting the street) in front of
or beyond the main building foundation. Open porches and stairs are not considered
when determining the main building line. However, the Zoning Administrator may
grant an Administrative Variance (Subsection 3-4.3.f) to allow a fence to exceed the
main building foundation.

Fences shall not be permitted in the front yard except when a variance is requested
and approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission.

2. Required Fences. Fences are required and shall be constructed as follows:

a.

b.

When a building or use is within fifty (50) feet of a residentially zoned property, a
minimum six (6)-foot solid fence is required along the lot line of lots in districts zoned
business and industrial where such lot line abuts a lot in the Residence District when
the residential use predates the business or manufacturing use. Fences up to eight (8)
feet in height or landscaping in lieu of fences may be allowed if recommended and/or
required by the Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the Village Board.
The owner of the business or industrial lot shall be responsible for the erection and
maintenance of the required fences or landscaping.

A minimum six (6)-foot high solid fence shall be erected along the lot line of lots in R-
3 General Residence District which are being developed with multi-family dwelling
units, where such lot lines abut a lot in R-l or R-1A Single Family Residence District or
R-2 Two- Family Residence District. Fences up to eight (8) feet in height or landscaping
in lieu of fences may be allowed and/or required if recommended by the Planning and
Zoning Commission and approved by the Village Board. The purpose of the fence is to
effectively screen the activities of the multi-family dwelling units in the R-3 General
Residence District from the R-l, R-1A, and R-2 Districts. Ownership and maintenance
of fences in an R-3 district, or R-3 Section of a Planned Development, shall be the
responsibility of the Homeowners Association.

3. Swimming Pools. The following requirements shall apply to swimming pools. Permanent
swimming pools shall be completely enclosed with a minimum four (4)-foot-high fence

74



and gate. Fences shall be constructed of chain link or other materials equivalent to the
following chain link specifications:

a.

g.

Fence fabric shall have a maximum two (2)-inch opening and shall be made of
galvanized or plastic coated eleven (11) gauge steel wire or equivalent aluminized
steel wire grid. Line posts, terminal posts, swing gate posts, and braces shall be of
galvanized steel pipe or H-column construction. Post heights shall be sufficient to
accommodate the fabric and shall extend a minimum of two (2) feet into concrete
footings. The bottom of the wire mesh fabric shall not be installed more than three
(3) inches above grade. The spacing of posts shall not be greater than ten (10) feet on
center. Swing gates shall employ positive self-closing devices with suitable latches and
padlocks. The latch shall be located a minimum of thirty-six (36) inches above grade.

An equivalent fence shall be defined as one which provides equal or better protection
against the possibility of a person accidentally falling into the swimming pool. The
Building Inspector shall determine such equivalency.

If the swimming pool is so located on the lot that a fence, with gate, on the lot or
elsewhere meets the above requirements, a separate fence around the swimming
pool is not required. If said fence terminates within three (3) inches of a dwelling,
garage, or any structure on the premises and is otherwise arranged so that the only
access to the pool necessitates that a person passes through two (2) or more lockable
doorways, or the gate in the fence, the fence need not be continuous, but may be
interrupted by said structures.

When the pool is not in use under the supervision of the owner, and/or agent, tenant,
or other responsible person, all access gates or doors leading directly to the pool area
shall be securely locked.

All portable swimming pools shall be completely enclosed as if they were permanent
swimming pools. Fences around and attached to raised decks will be permitted as long
as they satisfy the above requirements.

The swimming pools shall be kept in full view from inside the dwelling unit. No shrub,
bush, tree, structure, equipment, or anything else which would impair vision except
an open fence and gate shall be placed so as to impair the visibility of the entire area
of the pool surface from the dwelling on the premises.

Comply with all Codes and Ordinances of the Village of Beecher governing the
installation and use of swimming pools.

4. Prohibited Fences and Gates in All District. The following fences are hereby prohibited:

a.

C.
d.

Barbed wire, chicken wire, (unless to enclose a rear or side yard garden) hog wire,
rope, cable, electrically charged wire, and other similar materials except that barbed
wire may be used on top of permitted fences in the industrial district and on fences
enclosing property owned by a government agency unless recommended by the
Planning and Zoning Commission and approved by the Village Board.

Snow fences, except those erected for the sole purpose of controlling drifting snow
between November 1st and March 31st, installed only on that portion of a lot which
faces or abuts a road, street, or highway.

Chain link fences with barbed ends up.

No gate or fence is permitted across a driveway in the front yard setback on any

75



Residencial District.

e. Any fence on a corner lot which extends closer to the adjoining street than the front
yard or side yard setback lines except for open decorative fences and landscaping
under three (3) feet high. Front yard decorative fences and landscaping shall be
approved by the Zoning Administrator.

f. Any fence, that would be closer to any street or roadway than the front setback lines
established by the building setbacks as actually located on the lots except that a
required fence or a decorative open fence or landscape fence under three (3) feet
high is allowed.

Development Fence. If a development fence is to be provided, a plan shall be provided

showing the location of the fence, type of fence to be used, and an estimate of life of the

fence. All of these items shall be reviewed by the Building Department prior to issuing a

permit for said fence. When a replacement of the development fence is required, the

Building Department shall approve the replacement fence as to its compatibility with

abutting fence located along the public right-of-way prior to the issuance of a fence

permit.

Fence Construction. Fence permits: A fence permit is required for the construction of all

fences. Provide the Building Department with a copy of the Plat of Survey showing the

proposed location of the fence. Complete a fence permit application answering all
necessary questions and pay the appropriate permit fee.

Location.

a. All fences shall be properly constructed on the fence owner's property.

b. All fences shall be permanent and not temporary except for garden fences enclosing
a garden in a rear yard or side yard not exceeding four (4) feet in height.

c. Except as follows, all permitted fences shall be constructed within one foot (1) of the
fence owner's side or rear lot lines:

i.  Except where the permitted fence returns to the existing building or structure
to enclose a yard;

ii.  Except for patio privacy fences not exceeding six (6) feet in height within the
buildable area of the lot;

iii.  Except for dog enclosures or runs not exceeding six (6) feet in height or
enclosing greater than twenty (20) percent of the rear yard, constructed in the
rear yard or buildable lot area and set back not less than five (5) feet from all
property lines. A corner zoning lot shall be considered as having two (2) front
yards.

Fence Installation. All fences shall be installed so that the finished side faces towards the

nearest lot line. All structural supports, if exposed, shall be located in such a manner so

as to face the principal building on the lot on which the fence is located.

Fence Heights and Fence Construction. Permitted fences as previously allowed may be

constructed to the following heights in the following Zoning Districts:

a. Residence Districts.

i. In aresidential district, wooden, plastic, or any privacy type fence made of a
solid material shall be permitted up to a height of six (6) feet. For any fence
made of wood, plastic, or other solid material, there shall be a minimum of

76



Vi.

three (3) feet of open space between a fence and any sidewalk or right-of-way.
Fences shall not be painted or made of materials with any color other than
white or earth tones except chain link fences which shall be their natural metal
color.

Solid fences which serve to screen or hide adjacent business or manufacturing
activities may be up to eight (8) feet in height if recommended by the Planning
and Zoning Commission and approved by the Village Board.

Open fences abutting regulation size tennis courts may be up to ten (10) feet
high.

Open fences — six (6) feet high. Any chain link fence shall be considered an
open fence.

Open fences at public baseball fields.

A solid patio fence may be erected to a height measured from grade not to
exceed six (6) feet and a distance not to exceed twenty-four linear (24) feet
along the rear lot line or that portion of the interior side lot line, provided that
in no case shall any portion of the screen be placed so as to impair the visibility
of the entire area of a swimming pool from the principal dwelling on the
premises and such screen is no closer than one (1) foot to any interior side or
rear lot line.

See Section 3-4.f
Administrative
Variances for
exceptions from
residential corner lot
fences.

77



b. Business District. Any type of fence, maximum eight (8) feet high. See Section 8 -
Business Districts.

c. Industrial District. Any type of fence, maximum eight (8) feet high, or up to twelve (12)
feet high when approved by the Village Board. See Section 9 - Industrial Districts.

10. Non-Conforming Fences. A fence which does not comply with this Ordinance but which is
in place on or before the effective date of this Ordinance and which is destroyed by fire
or other casualty or act of God or deteriorates to the extent that the cost of restoration
to the condition in which it was before the occurrence will exceed fifty (50) percent of the
cost of restoration of the entire fence now, shall not be restored unless said fence
restoration is approved by the Village Board and otherwise conforms to all regulations of
this Ordinance. In the event that such damage or destruction is less than fifty (50) percent
of the cost of restoration of the fence, no repairs or reconstruction shall be made unless
such restoration is started within ninety (90) days from the date of partial destruction and
is diligently prosecuted to completion.

4-29 —99: RESERVED.

78



SECTION 5 NON-CONFORMING BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES, AND
USES

5-1  STATEMENT OF PURPOSE.

This Section regulates uses and structures that do not conform to the regulations of this
Ordinance and specifies the terms and conditions under which such nonconforming uses and
structures lawfully existing upon the adoption of this Ordinance may be permitted to continue.
The continuation of nonconforming uses and structures can substantially and adversely impact
the orderly development of the Village, property values, and the community’s character.
Accordingly, imposing reasonable conditions on the existence and continued operation of
nonconforming uses and structures is necessary.

5-2  AUTHORITY TO CONTINUE NON-CONFORMING BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES AND USES.
For the purposes of this Section, a building or structure lawfully constructed or established on the
effective date of this Ordinance shall be deemed to include any building or structure for which a
building permit has been lawfully issued prior to such date, and on which construction is begun
within the required period of time as set forth in this Ordinance.

1. Continuance of Use. Any use of land lawfully existing upon the adoption of this Ordinance
or any amendment hereto can continue, provided that:

a. If the use is located in a principal building or structure, the use may be continued
during the remainder of the building or structure’s normal life or until the building or
structure has deteriorated to the extent that it is no longer safe or habitable; or

b. If the use does not involve a principal building or structure, it may be continued as
long as no new principal or accessory building or structure is erected.

2. Compliance with Codes. The continuance of all nonconforming uses shall be subject to
compliance with the regulations of this Ordinance.

3. Unlawful Uses Prohibited. No use that was not lawfully existing at the time of the
adoption of this Ordinance or any amendment hereto shall become or be made lawful
solely by the adoption of this Ordinance or its amendment.

4. The Village Board may grant, by majority vote, permanent non-conforming status to a
building or structure upon request of the property owner after a public hearing as
specified in Section 3-3.2 of this Ordinance.

5-3 RESTRICTIONS ON NON-CONFORMING BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES AND USES.
Any lawfully existing building or structure which does not conform to the regulations of the
district in which it is located shall be subject to the provisions of this subsection.

1. Nothing in this Section shall prevent reconstructing, repairing, or rebuilding a structure
containing a nonconforming use rendered necessary by wear, tear, or deterioration
provided that the cost of such work shall not exceed fifty (50) percent of the replacement
cost of such structure at the time such work is completed, as determined by the Zoning
Administrator.

2. If a structure containing a nonconforming use is damaged by fire, collapse, explosion, or
other casualty or act of god to the extent that the cost of restoring the structure to its

79



condition immediately preceding the occurrence exceeds fifty (50) percent of the
replacement cost of the building or structure at the time immediately preceding the
occurrence, as determined by the Zoning Administrator, the nonconforming use must
cease and any reconstruction, construction, rebuilding, repairs, and use must comply with
all Village codes, ordinances, rules, and regulations as if it were a new use, as amended,
including the use regulations of the zoning district in which the structure is located.

3. If damage to a structure is fifty (50) percent or less of the cost of replacing the structure
to its condition immediately preceding the occurrence causing the damage, as
determined by the Zoning Administrator, the nonconforming use shall not be
reestablished if the nonconforming use is discontinued for one year or longer.

5-4 EXPANSION OF LEGAL NON-CONFORMING USE.

A nonconforming use shall not be expanded or extended into any portion of the building,
structure, or lot that was not occupied by the nonconforming use when this Ordinance was
adopted.

5-5 DISCONTINUANCE OF LEGAL NONCONFORMING USE.

If a nonconforming use is discontinued for a period of one (1) year or longer, it shall not be
reestablished and any subsequent use of the building, structure, or lot shall conform to the use
regulations of the zoning district in which such building, structure, or lot is located.

5-6 CHANGE OF LEGAL NONCONFORMING USE.
A nonconforming use may be changed to a new use only if the new use conforms to the use
regulations of the zoning district in which the building, structure, or lot is located.

5-7  RELOCATION OF NON-CONFORMING BUILDING OR STRUCTURE.

No building or structure containing a nonconforming use shall be moved in whole or in part to
any other location on the same or any other lot unless the use conforms to the use regulations
of the zoning district in which the building or structure is to be located.

5-8 — 99: RESERVED.

80



SECTION 6 ZONING DISTRICTS

6-1 ZONING DISTRICTS.
For the purposes and provisions of this Ordinance, the Village of Beecher is hereby divided into the
following districts:

Residential Districts

AG-1 Agriculture District

R-E Single-Family Residence Estate District

R-1 Single Family Residence District

R-1A Single Family Residence District for Subdivisions platted prior to the adoption of this
ordinance.

R-2  Two Family Residence District

R-3 Multi-Family Residence Distinct

Business/Commercial Districts

B-1 Historic Downtown Business District

B-3 General Business District (Business and Service)
G/l Government and Institutional District

0O/S  Open Space District

Industrial Districts
I-1 Limited Industrial District

6-2 OFFICIAL ZONING MAP.

The location and boundaries of the districts established by this Zoning Ordinance are set forth on
the “Official Zoning District Map of Beecher” which is incorporated herein and hereby made a part
of this Ordinance. The said map, together with everything shown thereon and all amendments
thereto, shall be as much a part of this Ordinance as though fully set forth and described herein.
The said map shall be filed with the office of the Village Clerk and certified copies thereof at the
office of the Zoning Administrator and shall be open to public reference at all times during which
these offices are open.

6-3  ZONING DISTRICT BOUNDARIES.
When uncertainty exists with respect to the boundaries of the various districts, as shown on the
Beecher Zoning Map, the following rules shall apply:

1. District boundary lines are either the center lines of railroads, highways, streets, alleys,
easements, or tract or lot lines, or such lines extended unless otherwise indicated.

2. In areas not subdivided into lots and blocks, wherever a district is indicated as a strip
adjacent to and paralleling a street, highway, or railroad, the depth of such strips shall be
in accordance with the dimensions shown on the maps measured at right angles from the
centerline of a street, highway or railroad, and the length of frontage shall be in accordance

81



with dimensions shown on the map from center lines of streets, highways or railroad rights-
of-way unless otherwise indicated.

3. Where alot held in one (1) ownership and of record on the effective date of the Ordinance
is divided by a district boundary line, the entire lot may be construed to be within the less
restricted district, if it increases the less restricted frontage of the lot by less than twenty-
five (25) feet, it shall be construed in the more restrictive zoning district.

4. Questions concerning the exact location of district boundary lines shall be determined by
the Zoning Administrator.

6-4 ANNEXED TERRITORY.

Whenever any parcel of land is hereafter annexed to the Village, in any manner whatsoever, such
territory, upon annexation, shall be classified or zoned under this Ordinance as an AG-l Agriculture
District, except as may be provided for by a pre-annexation agreement or an annexation agreement
after public hearing by the Planning and Zoning Commission in accordance with the provisions of
Section 3-2.3 of this Zoning Ordinance.

6-5 ZONING OF PUBLIC WAYS.

All streets, alleys, public ways, waterways and railroad rights-of-way, if not otherwise specifically
designated, shall be deemed to be in the same zone as the property immediately abutting on such
streets, alleys, public ways and railroad rights-of-way or waterways. Where the centerline of a
street, alley, public way, waterway, or railroad right-of-way serves as a district boundary, the zoning
of such areas, unless otherwise specifically designated, shall be deemed to be the same as that of
the abutting property up to such centerline.

6-6 ZONING DISTRICT USE TABLE.

The following table lists permitted and special uses in each classified zoning district. (A “P”
denotes that the use is a permitted use, an “S” denotes that the use is a special use, and an “X”
denotes that the use is prohibited (not permitted)).

Table 6-1
|AG-1| RE | R1 |R1A[R2|R3[B1[B3]| G/ ]| I
Agricultural Uses

Animal kennels and
veterinary S X X X X X X S X P
establishments
Buying and selling of
livestock

Farm implement stores S X X X X X X S X P
Farming equipment
stores

Farming, horticulture,
forestry, crop and tree P X X X X X X X X P
farming, truck farming,

82



AG-1| RE | R-1 [R1IA| R-2 | R3 | B-1 | B3 | G/I I-1
gardening, dairy
fanning, stock raising,
horse breeding,
domestic animals
Feed and seed stores P X X X X X X P X P
Feedlots S X X X X X X X X P
Fertilizer and seed sales S P X X X X X X X P
Gra.ln elevators a.n.d. S X X X X X X X X p
grain storage facilities
Greenhouses and p S X X X X X X X p
nurseries
Homestead farms P P X X X X X X X P
Resea'rch and/or p p X X X X X X X p
experimental farms
Riding stables S P X X X X X X X P
Sale of agricultural
products produced on P P X X X X X X X P
the premises
The sale of farm
supplies by farmers as
agents, or grain
elevators or similar P S X X X X X X X P
commercial facilities are
not maintained on the
farm premises

AG-1| RE | R-1 |R1IA| R-2 | R3 | B-1 | B3 | G/I I-1
Assisted Living/Memory X X X X X S X p X X
Care
Daycare Home X P P P P X X X X X
Dwellings, single-family X p p p X X X X X X
detached
Dwellings, single-family X X X X p X X X X X
attached
Dwgllmgs, multiple- X X X X X p X X X X
family
Dwel'lmgs, units above X X X X X X S S X X
the first floor
Group Community

. X S S S S S X X X X

Residence

83



AG-1 | R-E | R-1 |R-1A| R-2 | R-3 | B-1 | B-3 G/I -1
Mobile home parks X X X X X S X X X X
S.er.nor Independent X X X X X S X X X X
Living
Short-term rentals S S S S S S X X X X
Skilled Care Housing X X X X X S X S X X
Dwellings for watchmen
and operating X | x | x | x| x| x| x| x| x/|s
personnel and their
families
AG-1 | R-E | R-1 |R-1JA| R-2 | R-3 | B-1 | B-3 G/I -1
Hospitals X S S S S S S S X X
Medical/dental clinics X X X X X X P P X X
AG-1 | R-E | R-1 |R-1JA| R-2 | R-3 | B-1 | B-3 G/I -1
Ce.mejterles/ burial - X s S s s s X X X X
buildings / crematoria
Funeral parlors X X X X X S S S X X
Libraries X X S S S P P P P X
Nursery schools / pre-
schools (public, non- X S S S S S S S X X
profit, or private)
Rehabilitation Facilities X X X X X S S S X X
Religious institutions S S S S S S S S P X
Schqols (qu)Ilc, non- S S S S S S p p p p
profit, or private)
Schools (Trade) X X X X X X S S X X
AG-1| R-E | R-1 |R-1A| R-2 | R-3 | B-1 | B-3 G/l -1
Amusement
establishments, indoor:
including bowling alleys,
billiard parlors,
gymnasiums, swimming X X X X X X S S X S

pools, dance halls,
skating rinks, and other
similar recreational
establishments

84



AG-1| RE | R-1 |[R-1A| R-2 | R-3 | B-1 | B3 | G/ I-1

Amusement
establishments,
outdoor: including
driving ranges,
miniature golf, X X X X X X S S X S
carnivals, circuses, and
other similar
recreational
establishments

Dog Park X S S S S S X X X X
Emergency Shelter X X X X X S S S X X
Golf courses, not
including driving ranges
or miniature golf
courses

Hunting, fishing, game
preserves, and
recreational clubs or
camps

Membership riding
clubs, including but not
limited to: polo clubs, S X S S S S X X X X
rodeo clubs, and similar
uses

Community recreation
centers (public)

Parks / playgrounds/
forest preserves

Clubs and lodges

(private, fraternal, or